MAGNESIUM NUTRITION MITIGATES ADVERSE EFFECTS OF HEAT AND HIGH LIGHT STRESS ON MAIZE AND WHEAT

by MELİS MENGÜTAY

Submitted to the Graduate School of Engineering and Natural Sciences in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Biological Sciences and Bioengineering

> Sabanci University January 2014

© MELİS MENGÜTAY, JANUARY 2014

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

ADEQUATE MAGNESIUM NUTRITION MITIGATES ADVERSE EFFECTS OF HEAT AND HIGH LIGHT STRESS ON MAIZE AND WHEAT

Melis Mengütay

Biological Sciences and Bioengineering, Master Thesis, 2014 Supervised by: Prof. Dr. İsmail Çakmak

Keywords: Heat-Light Stress . Magnesium . Oxidative Stress . Maize . Wheat

Heat stress and excess light intensity are growing concerns in crop production because of global warming. In many cropping systems these stresses often occur simultaneously with other environmental stress factors such as mineral nutrient deficiencies. This study aimed to investigate the role of adequate magnesium (Mg) nutrition in mitigating the detrimental effects of heat and high light stress on wheat (Triticum aestivum) and maize (Zea mays). Visual leaf symptoms of Mg deficiency were aggravated in wheat and maize when exposed to heat or high light stress. Magnesium deficiency markedly reduced soluble carbohydrate concentrations in young leaves; but resulted in substantial increase in source leaves, indicating reduced transportation of carbohytrates from older (source) leaves into younger (sink) leaves. Magnesium deficiency also increased activities of antioxidative enzymes, especially when combined with heat and high light stress. The highest activities of superoxide dismutase (up to 80% above the control), glutathione reductase (up to 250% above the control) and ascorbate peroxidase (up to 300% above the control) were measured when Mg-deficient plants were subjected to heat or high light stress, suggesting stimulated formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in Mg deficient leaves under heat or high light stress. These results indicate that Mg deficiency increases susceptibility of wheat and maize plants to heat or high light stress, probably by increasing oxidative cellular damage caused by ROS. Ensuring a sufficiently high Mg supply for crop plants through Mg fertilization is a critical factor for minimizing heat or high light-related cellular damage in leaves and losses in crop production.

ÖZET

YETERLİ MAGNEZYUM BESLENMESİYLE MISIR VE BUĞDAYDA YÜKSEK SICAKLIK VE IŞIK STRESİNİN ZARARLI ETKİLERİNİN AZALMASI

Melis Mengütay

Biyoloji Bilimleri ve Biyomühendislik, Yüksek Lisans Tezi, 2014

Tez Danışmanı: Prof. Dr. İsmail Çakmak

Anahtar sözcükler: Isi-Işik stresi . Magnezyum . Oksidatif Stres . Mısır . Buğday

Yüksek sıcaklık stresi ve yüksek ışık şiddeti, küresel ısınma ile birlikte gittikçe artan bir kaygı uyandırmaktadır. Birçok tarımsal sistemde bu stresler mineral eksikliği gibi diğer stres faktörleriyle birlikte ortaya çıkabilmektedir. Bu tez çalışması ile buğday ve mısırda yeterli magnezyum (Mg) beslenmesinin yüksek sıcaklık ve ışık siddetinin tahrip edici etkilerinin hafifletilmesi üzerindeki rolü araştırılmaktadır. Mısırda ve buğdayda Mg eksikliği yaprak semptomları yüksek sıcaklık ve ışığa maruz kalındığında daha şiddetli ortaya çıkmaktadır. Magnezyum eksikliği genç yapraklarda çözünür karbonhidrat miktarını önemli derecede azaltırken yaşlı yapraklarda ise ciddi oranda artışa sebep olmuştur. Bu durum yaşlı yapraklardan genç yapraklara karbonhidrat taşınımının Mg eksikliğinde azaldığını göstermektedir. Magnezyum eksikliği özellikle yüksek sıcaklık ve ışığa maruz kalındığında bazı antioksidatif enzimlerin aktivitesini arttırmıştır. Bu artışlar, en çarpıcı biçimde; süperoksit dismutazda 80% oranında, glutatyon reduktazda %250 oranında, ve askorbat peroksidazda %300 oranında görülmüştür. Anılan artışlar, Mg eksikliğinin buğday ve mısır bitkilerinde yüksek ısı ve ışığa duyarlılığını arttırdığını ve hücrelerde oksidatif zararlanmaya yol açan zararlı/reaktif oksijen türevlerinin artan miktarda ortaya çıktığını göstermektedir. Sonuçlar, kültür bitkilerinde yüksek sıcaklık ve yüksek ışık yoğunluğuna bağlı olarak ortaya çıkan hücre zararlanması ve verim kayıplarını minimize etmede yeterli düzeyde bir Mg gübrelemesinin önemli olduğuna işaret etmektedir.

This work is dedicated

To my family, **Sami**, **Ceyda** and **Mete** Who always encourage me with their greatest love and support;

To **Emir**, for being incredibly wonderful to me.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are numerous people without whom this thesis would not have been possible, and I wish to express my deepest gratitude for them.

First of all, it is an honor to work under the worthy guidance of my advisor Prof. Dr. İsmail Çakmak. I would like to thank him for providing me a tremendous opportunity of being a member in his exclusive research team. His exceptional enthusiasm, confidence, peerless support and immense knowledge will continue to inspire me forever.

I would like to thank every member of my thesis committee Prof. Dr. Selim Çetiner, Prof. Dr. Uğur Sezerman, Prof. Dr. Dilek Anaç and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Levent Öztürk for their precious time, advice and contributions to my education in Sabanci University.

My deepest appreciation goes to Yasemin Ceylan, who is my precious partner in our laboratory and one of my best friends. We shared our success and failure; happiness and sorrow throughout this study. My motivation owes her so much that I can denominate this thesis as ours.

I am very indebted for Dr. Ümit Barış Kutman for his experience, enriching ideas and valuable contributions to this thesis.

I would like to thank to all the members of Plant Physiology Lab, especially Atilla Yazici for his precious assistance and guidance, Bahar Yıldız Kutman for her sisterly care, Özge Cevizcioğlu, Yusuf Tutuş, Uğur Atalay, Sinem Koç, Elif Haklı and Bahar Açıksöz for their friendly companies and Özay Özgür Gökmen for helping me to improve my research.

This study also owes Veli Bayır, who suddenly passed away, leaving very nice memories to remember.

I am genuinely thankful to Emir Ova for his marvelous patience, love and care as well as for encouraging me to be the best of me. Without him, my life would have been missing. I would like to express my profound appreciation to all the members of my family, who are my reasons of existence as well as the greatest source of my encouragement and motivation.

Finally, I am very grateful for the financial support of K+S Kali throughout my Master Program.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A. INTRODUCTION	
A.1. General	1
A.2. Heat Stress	2
A.3. High Light Stress	
A.4. Roles of Magnesium in Plants	5
A.5. Generation and Detoxification of ROS (Reactive Oxygen Species)	7
A.6. Objectives	8
B. MATERIALS AND METHODS	10
B.1. Plant Growth Facilities and Experimental Design	10
B.1.1. Experiments on Heat Stress and Mg Nutrition	10
B.1.2. Experiments on High Light Stress and Mg Nutrition	12
B.2. Digestion and Magnesium Analysis	13
B.3. Protein and Antioxidative Enzyme Assays	13
B.3.1. Measurement of Protein Concentration	13
B.3.2. Superoxide Dismutase (SOD) Activity	13
B.3.3. Glutathione Reductase (GR) Activity	14
B.3.4. Ascorbate Peroxidase (APX) Activity	14
B.3.5. Catalase (CAT) Activity	14
B.4. Soluble Carbohydrate Analysis	15
B.5. Statistical analysis	15
C. RESULTS	16
C.1. Experiments on Heat Stress and Mg Nutrition	16
C.2. Experiments on High Light Stress and Mg Nutrition	30
D. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	40
D.1. Discussion	40
D.2. Conclusions	47
E. REFERENCES	48

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Shoot and root dry weights (DW) and shoot-to-root ratios of 22-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and 23-day-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solution with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures	19
Table 1.2: Shoot and root Mg concentrations and contents of 22-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and 23-day-old maize (Zea mays cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures. (0.2 mg Zn kg ⁻¹) and adequate (5 mg Zn kg ⁻¹) Zn supply under greenhouse conditions	22
Table 1.3 Leaf protein concentrations of 22-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and 23-d-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M for wheat, 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures	23
Table 1.4: Total activities and specific activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione reductase (GR), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), and catalase (CAT) in leaves of 22-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.	27
Table 1.5: Total activities and specific activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione reductase (GR), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), and catalase (CAT) in leaves of 23-day-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (20 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.	29
Table 2.1: Effect of low and high light treatments on the shoot and root dry weights (DW) and shoot-to-root ratios of 29-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solution with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply	32
Table 2.2: Effect of low and high light intensity treatments on the shoot and root Mg concentrations and contents of 29-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply	35
Table 2.3: Effect of low and high light treatments on the leaf protein concentrations of 29-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M for wheat, 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply.	36
Table 2.4: Total and specific activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione	

reductase (GR), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), and catalase (CAT) in leaves of 29day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different light intensities...37

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Growth of 22-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and 23- day-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different temperatures
Figure 1.2: Leaves of 22-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and 23- d-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different temperatures
Figure 1.3: SPAD (chlorophyll) values of the 22-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and 23-day-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solution with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures
Figure 1.4: Growth of 22-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) plants in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different temperatures
Figure 1.5: Growth of 23-day-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Shemal) plants in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different temperatures
Figure 1.6: Specific fresh weights (a) and dry weights (b) of old, middle and young leaves of 23-day-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (20 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.
Figure 1.7: Soluble carbohydrate concentrations per mg g-1 (a) and mg cm-2 (b) of old, middle and young leaves of 23-day-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (20 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures
Figure 2.1: Growth of 29-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) and maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different light intensities
Figure 2.2: SPAD (chlorophyll) values of the 29-d-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solution with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different light intensities
Figure 2.3: Root and shoot growth of 29-day-old wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> cv. Adana 99) plants in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply and at different light intensities
Figure 2.4: Root and shoot growth of 29-day-old maize (<i>Zea mays</i> cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply and at different light intensities.

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

aluminium
analysis of variance
ascorbate peroxidase
ascorbic acid
adenosine triphosphate
boron
circa (approximately)
calcium
crassulacean acid metabolism
calcium nitrate tetrahydrate
carbon dioxide
catalase
copper sulfate pentahydrate
cultivar
three-carbon organic acids
four-carbon organic acids
deoxyribonucleic acid
dry weight
iron
oxidised glutathione
iron ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
fresh weight
hydrogen peroxide
boric acid
nitric acid
honestly significant test
inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry
international panel on climate change

К	potassium
KC1	
KH ₂ PO ₄	potassium dihydrogen phosphate
K ₂ SO ₄	potassium sulfate
MDHA	monodehydroascorbate
Mg	magnesium
MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	magnesium sulfate heptahydrate
Mn	manganase
MnSO ₄ .H ₂ O	manganese sulfate monohydrate
N	nitrogen
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NBT	nitroblue tetrazolium chloride
(NH ₄) ₆ Mo ₇ O ₂₄ .4H ₂ O	ammonium heptamolybdate (paramolybdate) tetrahydrate
¹ O ₂	singlet oxygen
O ₂	oxygen
O2	superoxide
OH ⁻	hydroxyl radicals
Р	phosphorus
РЕР	phosphophenol pyruvate
PP _i	pyrophosphate
PSI	
PSII	photosystem II
RNA	ribonucleic acid
ROS	reactive oxygen species
S	
SOD	superoxide dismutase
SPAD	special products analysis division
Temp	temperature
tRNA	transfer ribonucleic acid
UV	ultraviolet
Zn	zinc
ZnSO ₄ ⁻⁷ H ₂ O	zinc sulfate heptahydra

(A) INTRODUCTION

A.1. General

World population increases rapidly every year. According to estimates and projections made by the l United Nations, the world population of 7.2 billion in mid-2013 is anticipated to increase 9.6 billion in 2050 and 10.9 billion by 2100, even considering that fertility levels will continue to decrease. Such increase is also correlated with the increase in food demand. By 2050 it will be needed to produce 70% more food to feed the increasing world population and while doing this, using natural resources more efficiently and adapting to climate changes will be the main challenges world agriculture will face in the future (Bruinsma, 2009).

Together with the increasing food demand, agricultural production is greatly limited by environmental stresses. Plants are frequently exposed to abiotic stress factors, including drought, extreme temperatures, excess light, salinity, soil acidity and mineral nutrient deficiencies which can lead to reduction in yields while the arable land area is continuing to decline. Yield losses caused by these abiotic stress factors vary between 60-82% for corn, wheat and soybean (Bray et al. 2000). Because of global warming, heat stress, often co-occurring with drought (Carmo-Silva et al. 2012) and/or high light intensity (Larkindale and Knight 2002), is of particular concern. Changes in climate like global warming can also have additional remarkable negative effects on food production around the world. According to the 4th assessment report of intergovernmental panel on climate change (IPCC) published in 2007, the average global temperature is expected to rise by 1-6°C in the 21st century. Moreover, spells of extremely high temperatures and high light intensity are expected to become more and more frequent. These changes may also have significant impact on productivity of crops. In addition to environmental factors, at least 60% of cultivated soils worldwide have growth-limiting problems

arising from mineral nutrient deficiencies such as Mg deficiency (Cakmak, 2002; Cakmak and Yazici, 2010). When such soil nutritional problems occur at the same time with other environmental stress factors, severe losses in crop production worldwide are unavoidable.

Magnesium deficiency occurs under different environmental conditions and has become a widespread problem in agriculture and forestry (Hermans et al.2004). It mainly occurs in highly weathered, acidic and sandy soils with a low cation exchange capacity and also in intensive cropping systems with high Mg depletion problem in soil profile (Cakmak and Yazici 2010; Gransee and Führs 2012). Since Mg is mainly transported by mass flow, abiotic stress conditions like heat, high light and drought can severely inhibit Mg uptake and thus aggravate Mg deficiency (Gransee and Führs 2012).

A.2. Heat Stress

Depending on regional scales of warming and cultivars used, cereal crop yields are estimated to be reduced due to increase in air temperature, and the greatest amount of reduction in crop yields will likely occur in temperate and sub-tropical agricultural areas as a result of extreme temperature episodes (Teixeira et al. 2013). In some African countries, products from rain-fed agriculture in hot and drought years can decrease by as much as 50% by 2020. This decline seems to be aggravated by climate change (Boko et al. 2007; Easterling et al. 2007).

High temperature is considered as one of the major stress factor that greatly limits the agricultural production. Heat stress in generally observed together with high light intensity and drought; however in tropical climates, it can be observed independently from drought. Apart from decreasing the reproduction rate and impaired seed viability of plants; seed-filling duration is directly influenced by high temperature causing seed size to be smaller that lowers the crop yields (Prasad et al. 2008).

The most heat-sensitive processes in plants are photosynthesis and CO_2 fixation (Berry and Björkman 1980). The photosystem II (PSII) with its oxygen-evolving complex, carbon fixation by Rubisco and the ATP generating system are the main photosynthetic targets of heat stress (Allakhverdiev et al. 2008; Marutani et al. 2012). Thermal inhibition of Rubisco activase activity may lead to substantial decreases in Rubisco activation state under heat stress (Sharkey 2005; Carmo-Silva et al. 2012). In addition, higher temperatures favor the oxygenase activity of Rubisco over its carboxylase activity by increasing the dissolved O_2 to CO_2 ratio and the specificity of Rubisco for O_2 (Ogren 1984). As a result, in C_3 plants, photorespiration increases due to high temperature, which further reduces yield capacity of plants; whereas in C_4 plants, photorespiration suppressed by increasing the CO_2 concentration by suppressing the oxygenase activity of Rubisco enzyme (Lara and Andreo 2011). Consequently, heat stress decreases the net rate of photosynthesis by both enhancing photorespiration and directly reducing the photosynthetic carbon fixation (Farooq et al. 2011).

Assimilate translocation via the phloem, which is highly sensitive to Mg deficiency, can also be impaired by heat stress, at least indirectly as a result of lower source and/or sink activities (Plaut et al. 2004; Farooq et al. 2011). In wheat, when concurrent carbon assimilation during grain filling is restricted due to heat stress, the relative contribution of pre-anthesis stem reserves to grain filling becomes particularly important (Blum 1998; Fokar et al. 1998; Tahir and Nakata 2005). Efficient mobilization of stem reserves is considered a critical trait for ensuring high yields under heat stress conditions (Blum 1998).

As expected, such marked disturbances in activities of photosystems and photosynthetic enzymes in heat-stressed plants severely limit utilization of absorbed light energy in photosynthesis process which leads to exposure of chloroplasts to excess excitation energy and thus generation of ROS (Yamashita et al. 2008; Suzuki et al. 2012; Marutani et al. 2012). Therefore, oxidative cell damage is a common phenomenon in heat-stressed plants, which results from the attack of ROS on chloroplast pigments and membranes (Suzuki and Mittler, 2006; Gill and Tuteja 2010).

A.3. High Light Stress

Among other environmental stress factors, high light stress is also responsible for great amount of yield loss, and it is mostly observed together with heat and drought stress. Plants are exposed to higher light intensity than they need to derive photosynthesis. Therefore, exposure of plants to excess light is a common process and plants are well equipped to deal with excess light (Mittler, 2002; Foyer and Noctor, 2005). Dissipation of excess light through carotenoids (e.g., xantophyll cycle) is a well-documented response of plants to excess light. Dissipation of excess light energy is often accompanied by increased formation of xanthophyll pigment zeaxanthin, which is formed from violaxanthin through light-dependent xanthophyll cycle (Demmig-Adams and Adams 1996).

Excess light absorption occurs as a result of decreased rate of photosynthesis due to environmental stresses such as drought, low temperature or mineral nutrient deficiency (Owens 1996; Suzuki and Mittler 2006; Cakmak and Kirkby 2008). Inhibition of photosynthesis plays a major role in reducing the growth and development of plants. Since plants use light energy to drive photosynthesis; if the absorption of light energy exceeds the capacity of photosynthetic electrons to transport it, then inhibition of photosynthesis by light, called photoinhibition, occurs (Powles 1984). In this case, excess light excitation arriving at the photosytem-II (PSII) reaction center can cause disruption of D1 protein which is the reason for the inactivation of PSII and the excess electrons produced by photosystem-I (PSI) causes light dependent generation of ROS in chloroplast (Richter et al. 1990a, b; Barber and Andersson 1992). The degree of photoinhibition is greatly related to the balance between damage of photons to the PSII complex and its repair but high amount of ROS can prevent PSII repair by inhibiting the translation of mRNAs that encode proteins in the PSII complex (Takahashi and Murata 2008).

It is known that the formation of ROS in the chloroplast is enhanced under high light intensity, especially when plants are simultaneously exposed to an environmental stress factor. Under such situation, high light-driven generation of ROS occurs that induces photooxidative damage to chloroplasts. This is a typical situation for Mg deficient plants, and as a defense against enhanced production of ROS, Mg deficient plants enhances activity of antioxidative enzymes (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Cakmak and Kirkby, 2008). Since ROS are highly toxic, and their production is promoted under stress, the well-known cell damage and cell death in plants subjected to many environmental stress factors are most likely caused by ROS (Foyer et al. 1997; Foyer and Noctor, 2005).

A.4. Roles of Magnesium in Plants

Magnesium is known to be the most abundant free cation in the cytosol of plants (Shaul 2002), and has various structural and physiological roles in plant cells (Cakmak and Kirkby 2008). One of the well-known roles of Mg is related to its impact on acitivity of enzymes. Magnesium activates more enzymes than any other mineral nutrient (Epstein and Bloom 2004). Magnesium exists in the central position in the structure of the chlorophyll molecule, and therefore it is not surprising that plants under low Mg supply show leaf chlorosis (Marschner 2012). There are several enzymes in chloroplasts, which are adversely affected from low supply of Mg including photosynthetic enzymes and consequently photosynthesis process is impaired (Shaul 2002; Cakmak and Kirkby 2008). Rubisco, driving the initial carboxylation step in the Calvin cycle, and phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) carboxylase, responsible for the initial fixation of CO₂ in C₄ and CAM plants, are among the critical Mg-activated enzymes of photosynthetic machinery (Wedding and Black 1988; Portis 1992). Numerous reports have documented that the rate of photosynthesis is markedly reduced in Mg-deficient plants (Fischer and Bremer 1993; Laing et al. 2000; Hermans et al. 2004). Plants with low Mg are highly responsive to foliar spray of Mg and show rapid increases in photosynthetic rate and chlorophyll concentration when Mg sprayed, as shown in broad bean plants (Neuhaus et al. 2013).

Additionally, nucleic acid-synthesizing polymerases and degrading nucleases require Mg for their sufficient activity (Sreedhara and Cowan 2002). Protein synthesis also requires Mg since the aggregation of two subunits requires Mg to create a bridge among them so to help activation of ribosomes (Marschner 2012; Fischer et al. 1998).

One of the well document positive impacts of Mg nutrition in plants is related to its stress-mitigating roles. Magnesium is able to alleviate Al toxicity as shown in a numerous of plants (Tan et al. 1992; Silva et al. 2001; Ryan et al. 1994; Yang et al. 2007). Magnesium also protects plants from oxidative damage initiated by excess light intensity by contributing to usage of absorbed light energy in photosynthesis (Cakmak and Kirkby, 2008). Development of leaf chlorosis under Mg deficiency is stimulated when plants are exposed to high light intensity and a partial shading of leaves greatly delays occurrence of leaf chlorosis (Marschner and Cakmak 1989). These observations indicate that photooxidative damage contributes to the leaf symptoms associated with Mg deficiency. Increases in generation of ROS and associated oxidative damage to chloroplasts are also very common in plants under mineral nutrient deficiencies, especially under Mg deficiency (Marschner and Cakmak 1989; Cakmak 1994; Yang et al. 2012; Waraich et al. 2012). In Mg-deficient plants, impairment of the photosynthetic carbon fixation (Fischer and Bremer 1993; Hermans et al. 2004) and excessive accumulation of carbohydrates in source leaves due to disrupted phloem transport (Cakmak et al. 1994b; Hermans et al. 2005) lead to over-reduction of the photosynthetic electron transport and thus activation of O₂ to ROS (Kiyoshi et al. 1999; Cakmak and Kirkby 2008). In Mg-deficient plants, the levels of antioxidants (e.g. ascorbic acid, glutathione) and the activities of antioxidative defense enzymes including superoxide dismutase (SOD), ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and glutathione reductase (GR) are elevated to mitigate oxidative damage (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Tewari et al. 2004; Riga et al. 2005; Tewari et al. 2006; Yang et al. 2012). Higher expression of genes involved in antioxidative defense and increased oxidation state of total glutathione and ascorbate pools were also reported in Arabidopsis thaliana upon Mg starvation (Hermans et al. 2010).

Magnesium has a pivotal role in phloem loading of sucrose and thus carbohydrate partitioning between source and sink tissues (Cakmak et al. 1994a, b; Marschner et al. 1996; Hermans et al. 2005). Accumulation of carbohydrates in source tissues due to Mg deficiency precedes other symptoms including loss of chlorophyll, reduction of shoot growth and impairment of photosynthesis (Hermans et al. 2004; Hermans and Verbruggen 2005). As root growth depends on carbohydrates synthesized in the shoot, reduced root growth and lower root-to-shoot ratio are typical early symptoms of Mg deficiency (Cakmak et al. 1994a; Fischer et al. 1998; Yang et al. 2012).

Since Mg is essential for the synthesis and function of ATP, all ATP-dependent processes are at the same time Mg-dependent (Ko et al. 1999; Igamberdiev and Kleczkowski 2001). One of the critical enzymes dependent on the Mg-ATP complex is the proton pump (H⁺-ATPase) located in the plasma membrane of sieve tube cells and generating the electrochemical proton gradient which drives the phloem loading of sucrose via a secondary active H⁺-sucrose symporter (Bush 1989). It was recently

suggested that the activity of the plasma membrane H+-ATPase decreases under Mg deficiency (Hanstein et al. 2011).

A.5. Generation and Detoxification of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) in Plants

As indicated above, highly reactive forms of oxygen are called ROS and they are produced during the photosynthetic and respiratory electron transport. The most common ROS forms in plant cells are superoxide (O_2^{-}) , singlet oxygen $(^{1}O_2)$, hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and hydroxyl radicals (OH) (Asada 1994). Generation of ROS in plant cells is unavoidable. When produced at higher levels, plants are oxidatively damaged by the attack of ROS to critical cell components such as cell membranes (especially lipids), proteins and chlorophyll. Generation of ROS in plants is intensified when plants are exposed to environmental stress conditions such as drought, extreme temperatures, high radiation and nutrient deficiencies (Suzuki and Mittler 2006; Cakmak and Kirkby 2008; Sharma et al. 2012). Under nutrient deficiency, the intensity of excess light that plants absorb can increase due to stress-induced reductions in the photosynthesis capacity. As in the case of Mg deficiency, both high light intensity and heat stress induce production of toxic ROS and thus lead to photooxidative damage in chloroplasts (Suzuki and Mittler 2006). When these ROS are not readily detoxified so high in concentration, they damage lipid, chlorophyll, membrane structure, DNA and proteins including photosynthetic enzymes (Asada 2006; Cakmak and Kirkby 2008). If the concentration of ROS is low, they are also well-known second messengers in some of cellular processes including tolerance to abiotic stresses despite their destructive role (Desikan et al. 2001; Yan et al. 2007). Whether ROS will act as destructive or signaling molecule depends on the fragile balance between ROS production and scavenging.

Different forms of ROS are produced in different locations of chloroplast. Electron transport chain in PSI and PSII are the main locations of ROS in chloroplasts. Generation of ROS by these sources is promoted in plants by situations limiting CO_2 fixation, such as temperature, salt and drought stresses as well as by the combination of these stresses with high light stress (Sharma et al. 2012). In order to minimize the oxidative effects of stresses, plants can substantially increase the levels of ROS-detoxifying antioxidants (e.g. vitamin E, ascorbic acid, glutathione) and antioxidative enzymes including superoxide dismutase (SOD), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), glutathione reductase (GR) and catalase (CAT) (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Tewari et al. 2004; Riga et al. 2005; Tewari et al. 2006). SOD catalyses the dismutation of the superoxide anion and it can be found in most of the subcellular compartments that produce activated oxygen. CAT takes part in the detoxification of hydrogen peroxide especially in peroxisomes and it has high affinity for H_2O_2 but weak activity towards organic peroxides. GR uses NADPH to maintain a pool of reduced glutathione that can accept an electron from superoxide or H_2O_2 . APX also reduce H_2O_2 in ascorbate-glutathione pathway (Foyer et al. 1997; Asada 1999). It uses two molecules of ascorbic acid (AsA) to reduce H_2O_2 to H_2O with accompanying production of two molecules of monodehydroascorbate (MDHA).

A.6. Objectives

Based on the results published and reviewed above it seems very likely that Mg deficiency, heat stress and high light stress causes very similar physiological alterations in chloroplasts in terms of ROS generation and oxidative damage to chlorophyll. Maintaining high photosynthesis rate represents an important condition to minimize ROS generation under stress situations such as heat and high light. As highlighted above, Mg has number of critical functions in photosynthesis. It is, therefore, plausible to suggest that oxidative damage in leaf tissue induced by Mg deficiency may be more pronounced when Mg-deficient plants are simultaneously exposed to heat stress or high light intensity. It is very clear to suggest that adequate Mg supply is needed to protect plants from high light stress and also heat stress. Adequate mineral nutrition has been proposed to be essential to mitigate high light or heat stress-dependent cellular damage in plants (Cakmak 2005; Römheld and Kirkby 2010; Waraich et al. 2012). Calcium (Ca), for example, was shown to be protective against heat stress in several studies (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Gong et al. 1997; Jiang and Huang 2001; Larkindale and Knight 2002; Tan et al. 2011). In this study, we aimed to study role of varied Mg nutrition in protection of plants from heat and high light stress. To our knowledge, there is no information in literature about the role of Mg nutrition in mitigating adverse impacts of heat stress in plants. This study is also first testing role of adequate Mg nutrition on high light damage in a C_3 (wheat) and C_4 (maize) plants in the same work.

(B) MATERIALS AND METHODS

B.1. Plant Growth Facilities and Experimental Design

B.1.1. Experiments on Heat Stress and Mg Nutrition

In this experiment the aim was to study role of varied Mg nutrition on heat stress in maize and wheat plants. Bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) were grown hydroponically in growth chambers under controlled climatic conditions. Plants were grown in a growth chamber with 16 hours day and 8 hours dark. The photosynthetic photon flux density in the growth chamber was 400 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ at the canopy level. The control condition with respect to temperature was 25°C for the light period and 22°C for the dark period. For heat treatment, the light-period temperature was set to 35°C and the dark-period temperature to 28°C. The relative humidity was kept at 60% and 70% during the light and dark periods, respectively.

Perlite wetted with saturated CaSO₄.2H₂O solution was used as germination medium. Seeds were germinated for 5 days at room temperature and then transferred to solution culture. For both wheat and maize experiments, seedlings were grown in 3-L plastic pots. The nutrient solution was composed of 2 mM Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 0.7 mM K₂SO₄, 0.2 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.1 mM KCl, 100 μ M Fe-EDTA, 1 μ M ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 1 μ M H₃BO₃, 1 μ M MnSO₄.H₂O, 0.2 μ M CuSO₄.5H₂O and 0.14 μ M (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄.4H₂O. Magnesium was added in the form of MgSO₄.7H₂O at two different levels: Low Mg pots were supplied with 15 μ M and 20 μ M for wheat and maize, respectively. Adequate

Mg pots were supplemented with 450 μ M Mg for both species. Nutrient solutions were continuously aerated and refreshed three times a week throughout the growing period.

All experiments had completely randomized and full factorial designs. One half of the pots were subjected to heat for a period of time, whereas the other half was kept at control temperature throughout the experimental period. The wheat experiment was designed as a 4 pot-replicate experiment with 24 seedlings per pot, and the main maize experiment was designed as a 5 pot-replicate experiment with 6 plants in each pot. Heat treatment started 15 days after sowing (DAS) and continued until the harvest 22 DAS in the case of wheat and 23 DAS in the case of maize. Additionally, a parallel maize experiment with the same experimental design (but 4 pot replicates per treatment) was performed just for the measurement of protein concentration and antioxidative enzyme activities as described below.

For the determination of specific weights and soluble carbohydrate concentration, leaf disc samples of known surface area were taken from the 3rd oldest (referred to as oldest), 4th oldest (referred to as middle) and youngest leaves of maize plants in the main maize experiment. (2 plants per pot) The fresh leaf discs were weighed and then dried at 50 °C for 3 days. The specific fresh and dry weights of these discs (mg cm⁻²) were calculated. The soluble carbohydrate analysis was performed on these discs as described below. Samples for the determination of protein concentration and antioxidative enzyme activities were taken from the 3rd and 4th oldest leaves of wheat (4 plants per pot) and 4th oldest leaves of maize (2 plants per pot) plants. These were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

Whole shoots of wheat and maize plants not used for carbohydrate or enzyme sampling were harvested separately. Plant roots were also harvested, washed in 1mM CaCl₂ solution for 3 min, 1mM EDTA solution for 3 min and finally deionized water. Whole shoot and root samples were dried at 70°C for 2 days. Dried samples were weighed and then ground to fine powders in an agate vibrating cup mill (Pulverisette 9; Fritsch GmbH; Germany). They were used for the determination of Mg concentration as described below.

B.1.2. Experiments on High Light Stress and Mg Nutrition

Additional experiments were established to study effect of varied Mg nutrition on high light stress in maize and wheat plants. Bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Pioneer) were grown hydroponically in growth chambers under controlled climatic conditions. The growth conditions were same as described above, except light intensity (see below). The temperature was 25°C during the light period and 22°C during the dark period. The relative humidity was kept at 60% and 70% during the light and dark periods, respectively.

Perlite wetted with saturated CaSO₄.2H₂O solution was used as germination medium. Seeds were germinated for 5 days at room temperature and then transferred to solution culture. For both wheat and maize experiments, seedlings were grown in 3-L plastic pots. The nutrient solution was composed of 2 mM Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 0.7 mM K₂SO₄, 0.2 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.1 mM KCl, 100 Fe-EDTA, 1 μ M ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 1 μ M H₃BO₃, 1 μ M MnSO₄.H₂O, 0.2 μ M CuSO₄.5H₂O and 0.14 μ M (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄.4H₂O. Magnesium was added in the form of MgSO₄.7H₂O at two different levels: Low Mg pots were supplied with 15 μ M and 20 μ M for wheat and maize, respectively, as desribed for the heat stress experiment. Adequate Mg pots were supplemented with 450 μ M Mg for both species. Nutrient solutions were continuously aerated and refreshed 3 times a week throughout the growing period.

All experiments had completely randomized and full factorial designs. One half of the pots were subjected to low light for a period of time, whereas the other half was kept at high light throughout the experimental period. Both wheat and maize experiments were designed as a 3 pot-replicate experiment with 20 seedlings per pot for wheat and 4 plants per pot for maize. After growing 15 days at 400 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (high light intensity), part of the seedlings were exposed to 175 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (low light intensity) by using a white shade, remaining plants continued to grow at 400 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. Plants were exposed to low (175 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) and high (400 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) light intensity for 2 weeks and then were harvested. At harvesting time, plants were 29-days-old.

Following analyses were applied to both heat stress and high light stress experiments.

B.2. Digestion and Magnesium Analysis

Ground shoot and root samples (ca. 0.3 g) were acid-digested in a closed-vessel microwave system, (MarsExpress; CEM Corp., Matthews, NC, USA) with 2 ml of 30% H₂O₂ and 5 ml of 65% HNO₃. After the digestion, the total volume of each sample was brought up to 20 ml with double-deionized water. Inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES; Vista-Pro Axial; Varian Pty Ltd, Mulgrave, Australia) was used to determine the Mg concentrations of the samples. Measurements were checked by using certified standard reference materials obtained from the National Institute of Standards and Technology (Gaithersburg, MD, USA). The Mg contents of shoot and roots were calculated by multiplying the Mg concentrations by their dry weights.

B.3. Protein and Antioxidative Enzyme Assays

Frozen wheat and maize leaf samples (ca. 0.5 g) were homogenized in 5 ml of 50 mM potassium phosphate (K-P) buffer (pH 7.6). The homogenates were then centrifuged at 15000 g for 30 min, and the supernatants were used for protein and enzyme analysis.

B.3.1. Measurement of Protein Concentration

Protein concentrations in the crude extracts were measured by using the Bradford assay as described by Bradford (1976).

B.3.2. Superoxide Dismutase (SOD) Activity

SOD activity was measured by a slightly modified version of the photochemical method described by Giannopolitis and Ries (1977). This assay is based on the inhibition of the photochemical reduction of nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) by SOD and

its spectroscopic measurement at 560 nm. One tube of reaction mixture contains 500 μ l 50 mM Na₂CO₃, 500 μ l 12mM L-methionine, 500 μ l 75 μ M *p*-nitro blue tetrazolium chloride NBT and 500 μ l 2 μ M riboflavin as well as enzyme extracts (50-150 μ l). The total volume was brought up to 5 ml with K-P (pH 7.6) containing 0.1 mM Na-EDTA. Adding the riboflavin to the mixture and placing the vials under the lights in growth chamber started the reaction and samples were kept under light for about 8 min. One unit of SOD activity is defined as the SOD activity that results in a 50% decrease in the NBT reduction.

B.3.3. Glutathione Reductase (GR) Activity

GR activity was determined by recording the oxidation of NADPH at 340 nm according to Foyer and Halliwell (1976) with a few modifications. The 1-ml reaction mixture consisted of 100 μ l of 0.5 mM oxidized glutathione (GSSG), 100 μ l of 0.12 mM NADPH, 50-150 μ l of the enzyme extract and 650-750 μ l of 50 mM K-P buffer (pH 7.6) with 0.1 mM Na-EDTA. Results were adjusted for the non-enzymatic oxidation of NADPH by observing the decrease of absorbance at 340 nm in the absence of GSSG.

B.3.4. Ascorbate Peroxidase (APX) Activity

APX activity was measured according to Nakano and Asada (1981) by monitoring the decrease in absorbance of ascorbic acid at 290 nm. The 1-ml reaction mixture contained, 100 μ l of 12 mM H₂O₂, 100 μ l of 2.5 mM ascorbic acid, 50-150 μ l of the enzyme extract in addition to 650-750 μ l of 50 mM K-P buffer (pH 7.6) containing 0.1 mM Na-EDTA.

B.3.5. Catalase (CAT) Activity

CAT activity was determined by monitoring the decrease in the absorbance of H_2O_2 at 240 nm. The reaction mixture contained 100 µl of 100 mM H_2O_2 dissolved in

K-P buffer, 50-150 μ l of the enzyme extract and sufficient 50 mM K-P buffer (pH 7.6) containing 0.1 mM Na-EDTA to bring up the total volume to 1 ml.

B.4. Soluble Carbohydrate Analysis

Soluble carbohydrate analysis was performed according to the spectroscopic method described by Yemm and Wills (1954) with slight modifications. D-glucose was used to prepare standard solutions for the calibration of spectrophotometer. The anthrone reagent was prepared by dissolving 0.6 g of anthrone in 300 ml of 98 % H₂SO₄ and 100 ml of 20% ethanol. Soluble carbohydrates of dried and ground leaf samples were extracted with 80% ethanol (1:100 w:v). The suspensions were centrifuged at 15000 g for 20 min, and the supernatants were collected. To 250 µl of sample extract, 4 ml of the anthrone reagent was added, and the mixture was incubated in a water bath set to 90°C for 20 min. When the samples cooled down, the absorbance was read at 620 nm.

B.5. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed by using the JMP software. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine the significance of the effects of the treatments and their interactions on the addressed traits. Significant differences between means were determined by Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test ($p\leq0.05$) where ANOVA indicated a significant effect.

(C) RESULTS

C.1. Experiments on Heat Stress and Mg Nutrition

When plants grown under low Mg supply, older leaves developed Mg deficiency symptoms. As shown in Figs. 1.1 and 1.2, Mg deficiency leaf symptoms were intensified with the exposure of plants to heat stress.



Figure 1.1: Growth of 22-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and 23-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different temperatures.



Figure 1.2: Leaves of 22-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and 23-d-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different temperatures.

Heat treatment very distinctly aggravated the visual symptoms of Mg deficiency both in maize and wheat, while in case of adequate Mg supply, heat treatment did not affect leaves (Fig. 1.2). These observations were in good agreement with the measurement of the SPAD values (chlorophyll concentrations) of maize and wheat leaves at different temperatures. As shown in Fig. 1.3, leaf SPAD values showed clear decline in plants under low Mg supply when exposed to heat treatment, whereas in case of adequate Mg supply, heat treatment did not affect leaf SPAD values, even tended to increase SPAD values.



Wheat: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (1; 1; 3) Maize: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (2; *n.s*; 4)

Figure 1.3: SPAD (chlorophyll) values of the 22-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and 23-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solution with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.

In wheat, low Mg reduced the shoot growth on average by about 15% and the root growth by over 30% (Table 1.1 and Fig. 1.4). Although the shoot dry weight of wheat was unaffected by heat under the conditions of this experiment, its root dry weight was significantly reduced by heat. Consequently, the shoot-to-root ratio of wheat was markedly higher at low Mg supply, particularly in the case of heat-treated plants (Fig. 1.4).

Table 1.1: Shoot and root dry weights (DW) and shoot-to-root ratios of 22-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and 23-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solution with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.

WHEAT						
Temp.	Mg Supply	Shoot DW	Root DW	Shoot-Root Ratio		
(mg plant ⁻¹)						
25 °C	Low	136 ± 15	43 ± 3	3.1 ± 0.2		
	Adequate	163 ± 13	61 ± 7	2.7 ± 0.5		
35 °C	Low	146 ± 17	34 ± 1	4.3 ± 0.5		
	Adequate	165 ± 17	54 ± 3	3.0 ± 0.2		
		MAIZ	E			
Temp.	Mg Supply	ply Shoot DW Root DW Shoot-Root		Shoot-Root Ratio		
(mg plant ⁻¹)						
25 °C	Low	1301 ± 483	177 ± 29	7.4 ± 2.4		
	Adequate	3019 ± 747	864 ± 122	3.5 ± 1.3		
35 °C	Low	1352 ± 370	134 ± 20	10.1 ± 2.9		
	Adequate	5692 ± 960	902 ± 202	6.3 ± 1.4		

Wheat:

Shoot DW: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (17; *n.s; n.s*) Root DW: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (4; 4; *n.s*) Shoot-Root Ratio: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (0.4; 0.4; *n.s*) **Maize:** Shoot DW: HSD0.05 (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (644; 644; 1230) Root DW: HSD0.05 (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (113; n.s; n.s) Shoot-Root Ratio: HSD0.05 (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (2.0; 2.0; n.s)



Figure 1.4: Growth of 22-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) plants in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different temperatures.

In the case of maize, low Mg supply reduced the shoot biomass by over 50% at control temperature and by over 75% under heat treatment. Despite the smaller appearance of low Mg maize under heat treatment (Fig. 1.1B and 1.5), their shoot biomass was not significantly different than that of non-treated low Mg maize (Table 1.1). Adequate Mg maize produced significantly more shoot biomass at higher temperature. The root dry weight of low Mg maize was on average only 20% of the root dry weight of adequate Mg plants. Thus, the shoot-to-root ratio of maize increased dramatically in response to both low Mg and heat treatments.



Figure 1.5: Growth of 23-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different temperatures.

The shoot Mg concentrations and contents of wheat plants supplied with adequate Mg were about 3-4 times higher than those of Mg-deficient plants (Table 1.2). Similarly, adequate Mg more than doubled the Mg concentration and content of wheat roots. Heat treatment lowered the shoot Mg concentration and thus the shoot Mg content considerably, but it did not have a significant effect on the root Mg concentration or content of wheat. In maize, low Mg plants had 3-6 times lower Mg concentrations in their shoot and roots than adequate Mg plants. When the shoot and root Mg contents were considered, these differences were even more dramatic. Heat treatment did not affect the root Mg concentration or content of maize. In adequate Mg maize, higher temperature resulted in lower shoot Mg concentration but higher shoot Mg content.

Table 1.2: Shoot and root Mg concentrations and contents of 22-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and 23-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.

WHEAT						
		Mg Concentrations		Mg Contents		
Temp.	Mg Supply	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot+Root
		(mg kg ⁻¹)		(µg plant ⁻¹)		
05.00	Low	465 ± 27	587 ± 98	63 ± 11	25 ± 3	89
25 °C	Adeq.	1627 ± 89	1248 ± 295	266 ± 26	78 ± 24	344
	Low	358 ± 5	612 ± 50	52 ± 7	21 ± 1	73
35 °C	Adeq.	1366 ± 37	1410 ± 88	225 ± 28	76 ± 5	302

MAIZE						
		Mg Conc	entrations	Mg Contents		
Temp.	Mg Supply	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot+Root
25 °C	Low Adeq.	(mg 548 ± 64 2028 ± 159	kg ⁻¹) 1732 ± 292 9829 ± 426	688 ± 193 6044 ± 1070	(μg plant ⁻¹) 300 ± 20 8480 ± 1127	988 14524
35 °C	Low Adeq.	485 ± 39 1437 ± 164	2292 ± 121 9242 ± 961	649 ± 145 8118 ± 1158	306 ± 32 8203 ± 1215	955 16322

Wheat:

Shoot Mg Conc.: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (55; 55; 105) Root Mg Conc.: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (178; *n.s; n.s*) Shoot Mg Cont.: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (22; 22; *n.s*) Root Mg Cont.: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (13; *n.s; n.s*) **Maize:** Shoot Mg Conc.: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (114; 114; 217) Root Mg Conc.: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (521; n.s; n.s) Shoot Mg Cont.: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (756; 756; 1443) Root Mg Cont.: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (786; n.s; n.s)

Table 1.3 shows protein concentration of leaves under given experimental conditions. Low Mg supply reduced the protein concentration by about 30-40% (Table 1.3). Heat treatment did not affect the protein concentration of wheat leaves significantly, whereas it resulted in about 25% lower protein concentration in maize leaves.
Table 1.3: Leaf protein concentrations of 22-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and 23-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M for wheat, 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.

		Protein Concentration		
Temperature	Mg Supply	Wheat	Maize	
		(mg	g ⁻¹ FW)	
25 %	Low	15 ± 1	9.0 ± 1.0	
25 °C	Adequate	21 ± 3	13.0 ± 1.0	
35 °C	Low	14 ± 1	6.3 ± 0.2	
	Adequate	22 ± 3	9.9 ± 1.5	

Wheat: HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (2; *n.s; n.s*) **Maize:** HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (1.1; 1.1; *n.s*)

The specific fresh and dry weights (mg cm⁻²) of discs taken from old, middleaged and young maize leaves are shown in Fig. 1.6. These measurements were made on only maize plants due to better suitability of the maize leaves. Under adequate Mg condition, the specific fresh and dry weights did not differ significantly depending on leaf age. In contrast, decreasing trends in specific weights were observed from oldest to youngest leaves under Mg deficiency. Notably, the specific dry weights of leaf discs taken from low Mg plants exhibited more distinct differences depending on leaf age than their specific fresh weights. Oldest leaves of low Mg plants had higher specific dry weights than those of adequate Mg plants, whereas youngest leaves of Mg-deficient plants had lower specific dry weights than those of adequate Mg plants. Per unit area, dry oldest leaves of low Mg plants were more than twice as heavy as their dry youngest leaves, probably due to higher amount of carbohydrates as discussed below.

Heat treatment tended to increase the specific dry weights of all leaves of adequate Mg plants. In low Mg plants, only the middle leaves had higher specific dry weights upon heat treatment.



Specific fresh weights:

 $HSD_{0.05}$ (Leaf; Mg; Heat; LeafxMg; LeafxHeat; MgxHeat; LeafxMgxHeat) = (0.8; 0.6; *n.s*; 1.4; *n.s*; *n.s*; *n.s*; *n.s*)

Specific dry weights:

HSD_{0.05} (Leaf; Mg; Heat; LeafxMg; LeafxHeat; MgxHeat; LeafxMgxHeat) = (0.2; 0.1; 0.1; 0.4; 0.4; *n.s*; 0.6)

Figure 1.6: Specific fresh weights (a) and dry weights (b) of old, middle and young leaves of 23-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (20 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.

Soluble carbohydrates were analyzed in the leaf discs, which were used for the determination of specific weights. When the Mg supply to maize plants was adequate, similar levels of soluble carbohydrates were measured in oldest, middle-aged and youngest leaves (Fig. 1.7).



Soluble carbohydrates (mg g⁻¹): HSD_{0.05} (Leaf; Mg; Heat; LeafxMg; LeafxHeat; MgxHeat; LeafxMgxHeat) = (24; 16; 16; 42; 42; n.s; n.s)

Soluble carbohydrates (mg cm⁻²):

 $HSD_{0.05}$ (Leaf; Mg; Heat; LeafxMg; LeafxHeat; MgxHeat; LeafxMgxHeat) = (0.1; 0.1; *n.s*; 0.2; 0.2; *n.s*; *n.s*)

Figure 1.7: Soluble carbohydrate concentrations per mg g-1 (a) and mg cm-2 (b) of old, middle and young leaves of 23-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (20 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.

In the youngest leaves, the concentration of soluble carbohydrates decreased markedly due to Mg deficiency (Figure 1.7). On the contrary, oldest leaves exhibited significant accumulation of soluble carbohydrates under the low Mg condition. Similar trends were observed at both 25°C and 35°C.

Table 1.4 shows the effects of Mg and heat treatments on the activities of selected antioxidative enzymes of wheat plants on both fresh weight and protein basis. The superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity per g fresh sample was elevated in heattreated wheat by Mg deficiency, though it was unaffected by Mg supply in non-treated plants. Stronger responses to Mg and heat treatments were observed in the specific SOD activity. In response to Mg deficiency, wheat grown at control temperature showed an increase in specific SOD activity by 35%, in contrast to heat-stressed wheat, which exhibited an increase by 80%. Low Mg and heat stress conditions also enhanced the glutathione reductase (GR) and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activities per both g fresh sample and mg protein. The effects of Mg deficiency on the specific activities of these antioxidative enzymes in wheat were potentiated by heat treatment. In the case of APX, low Mg supply almost doubled the specific activity at lower temperature, but more than tripled it when plants were subjected to heat stress. Heat treatment also caused the catalase (CAT) activity of wheat to increase significantly. However, CAT was the only antioxidative enzyme which appeared to have a lower activity in low-Mg wheat than in adequate-Mg wheat.

Table 1.4: Total activities and specific activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione reductase (GR), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), and catalase (CAT) in leaves of 22-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.

Total Activity						
Temp.	Mg Supply	SOD	GR	ΑΡΧ	CAT	
		(U g ⁻¹ FW)	(µmol [NADPH] g ⁻¹ FW min ⁻¹)	(µmol H ₂ O ₂	g ⁻¹ FW min ⁻¹)	
25.00	Low	110 ± 4	25 ± 6	45.4 ± 9.7	1832 ± 227	
25 °C Ad	Adequate	110 ± 8	21 ± 2	31.7 ± 4.6	2712 ± 181	
35 °C	Low	119 ± 4	36 ± 1	87.3 ± 6.8	2297 ± 197	
35 0	Adequate	101 ± 11	25 ± 2	40.6 ± 1.7	3868 ± 641	

	Specific Activity						
Temp.	Mg Supply	SOD	GR	ΑΡΧ	CAT		
		(U mg ⁻¹ Prt.)	(µmol [NADPH] mg ⁻¹ prt. min ⁻¹)	(µmol H₂O₂ r	ng ⁻¹ prt. min ⁻¹)		
25.00	Low	7.2 ± 0.5	1.64 ± 0.31	2.9 ± 0.4	120 ± 6		
25 0	Adequate	5.4 ± 0.4	1.01 ± 0.10	1.5 ± 0.2	134 ± 19		
35 °C	Low	8.4 ± 0.2	2.56 ± 0.16	6.1 ± 0.2	162 ± 11		
	Adequate	4.6 ± 0.1	1.16 ± 0.05	1.9 ± 0.3	177 ± 13		

SOD: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (*n.s; n.s*; 15) GR: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (4; 4; *n.s*) APX: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (6.9; 6.9; 13.4) CAT: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (398; 398; *n.s*)

SOD_Sp: HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (0.74; n.s; 0.7)GR_Sp: HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (0.21; 0.21; 0.42)APX_Sp: HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (0.3; n.s; 0.6)CAT_Sp: HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (15; 15; n.s) Table 1.5 shows that low Mg supply to maize enhanced the SOD activity per g fresh sample by 10% and the specific SOD activity by over 60%. Heat treatment seemed to decrease the SOD activity measured in maize leaves, but tended to increase the specific SOD activity, although the increase was insignificant. Among the enzymes of interest, GR exhibited the most impressive increases in response to Mg deficiency in maize. The GR activity of maize per g fresh sample was doubled under the low Mg conditions, and the specific GR activity was tripled. The fresh weight-based GR activity appeared lower at higher temperature, whereas the specific GR activity was enhanced by heat treatment, as in the case of SOD. Both low Mg and heat treatments had significant positive effects on the specific APX activity. The response of maize catalase to low Mg supply was remarkably different than the responses of other antioxidative enzymes and similar to the response of wheat catalase: It had lower activity in low Mg plants than in adequate Mg plants. In heat-treated maize plants, this negative effect of Mg deficiency on the catalase activity was particularly pronounced.

Table 1.5: Total activities and specific activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione reductase (GR), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), and catalase (CAT) in leaves of 23-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Shemal) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (20 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different temperatures.

Total Activity						
Temp.	Mg Supply	SOD	GR	APX	CAT	
		(U g ⁻¹ FW)	(µmol [NADPH] g ⁻¹ FW min ⁻¹)	$(\mu mol H_2O_2 g^{-1} FW min^{-1})$		
25.00	Low	114 ± 2	10.4 ± 0.9	21 ± 5	516 ± 61	
25 °C	Adequate	102 ± 5	5.0 ± 0.3	19 ± 1	768 ± 47	
25 %	Low	88 ± 4	8.5 ± 1.1	15 ± 2	158 ± 47	
35 0	Adequate	82 ± 14	4.4 ± 0.5	23 ± 5	721 ± 162	

	Specific Activity						
Temp.	Mg Supply	SOD	GR	APX	CAT		
		(U mg ⁻¹ Prt.)	(µmol [NADPH] mg ⁻¹ prt. min ⁻¹)	(µmol H ₂ O ₂ mg ⁻¹ prt. min ⁻¹)			
25.00	Low	12.8 ± 1.5	1.16 ± 0.11	2.4 ± 0.3	57 ± 6		
25 °C	Adequate	7.8 ± 0.6	0.39 ± 0.03	1.5 ± 0.2	59 ± 5		
35 °C	Low	14.1 ± 1.2	1.36 ± 0.12	2.5 ± 0.3	25 ± 8		
35 0	Adequate	8.4 ± 1.7	0.45 ± 0.05	2.4 ± 0.7	73 ± 17		

SOD: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (9; 9; *n.s*) GR: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (0.8; 0.8; *n.s*) APX: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (*n.s*; *n.s*; 8) CAT: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (101; 101; 195)

SOD_Sp: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (1.4; 1.4; *n.s*) GR_Sp: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (0.10; 0.10; *n.s*) APX_Sp: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (0.5; 0.5; *n.s*) CAT_Sp: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (11; 11; 22)

C.2. Experiments on High Light Stress and Mg Nutrition

As expected, wheat plants under low Mg supply became chlorotic as a result of low Mg supply (Fig. 2.1A). The development of leaf chlorosis under Mg deficiency became stronger and quicker when maize or wheat plants exposed to high light intensity. Under given experimental conditions, Mg deficiency was clearer in case of wheat and therefore high light stress was more effective on wheat (Fig. 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Growth of 29-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and maize (*Zea mays* cv. Pioneer) plants in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply at different light intensities.

Fig. 2.2 shows the SPAD (chlorophyll) values of the wheat and maize leaves. The decrease in chlorophyll levels caused by low Mg supply, further lowered by the high light treatment, while in plants with adequate Mg supply, the chlorophyll values were not affected significantly. Consequently, the difference between the SPAD values of leaves were more pronounced in low Mg plants under high light. Under the adequate Mg condition, the chlorophyll levels were unaffected by high light.



Wheat: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (4; *n.s*; 7) Maize: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Heat; MgxHeat) = (5;*n.s*; *n.s*)

Figure 2.2: SPAD (chlorophyll) values of the 29-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) maize (*Zea mays* cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solution with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different light intensities.

In wheat, low Mg reduced the shoot growth on average by about 10% and the root growth by almost 50% (Table 2.1). Shoot dry weight of wheat plants increased by high light intensity irrespective of Mg supply while there was no significant difference in case of root dry weight (Table 2.1 and Fig. 2.3). This situation led to higher shoot-to-root ratio at low Mg supply in wheat.

Table 2.1: Effect of of low and high light treatments on the shoot and root dry weights (DW) and shoot-to-root ratios of 29-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and maize (*Zea mays* cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solution with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply.

		WHEAT		
Treatment	Mg Supply	Shoot DW	Root DW	Shoot-Root Ratio
		(mg p	plant ⁻¹)	
Low Light	Low	198 ± 29	65 ± 7	3.0 ± 0.3
Low Light	Adequate	222 ± 27	121 ± 50	1.8 ± 0.2
Lich Licht	Low	204 ± 15	68 ± 11	3.0 ± 1.2
nign Light	Adequate	352 ± 70	136 ± 45	2.6 ± 0.9
		MAIZE		
		MAIZE		
Treatment	Mg Supply	Shoot DW	Root DW	Shoot-Root Ratio
		(mg p	plant ⁻¹)	
Low Light	Low	1804 ± 192	234 ± 32	7.7 ± 0.5
Low Light	Adequate	3252 ± 353	529 ± 25	6.2 ± 0.8
High Light	Low	2380 ± 219	360 ± 13	6.6 ± 0.6
nign Light	Adequate	4569 ± 724	891 ± 109	5.1 ± 0.3

Wheat:

Shoot DW: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (54; 54; *n.s*) Root DW: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (46;*n.s*;*n.s*) Shoot-Root Ratio: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (*n.s*; *n.s*; *n.s*) **Maize:** Shoot DW: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (570; 570; n.s) Root DW: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (78; 78; 152) Shoot-Root Ratio: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (0.8; 0.8; n.s)



Figure 2.3: Root and shoot growth of 29-days-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) plants in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply and at different light intensities.

In the case of maize, regardless of the Mg supply, increasing light intensity enhanced shoot and root dry matter production; but, these increases were less pronounced in case of low Mg supply (Table 2.1 and Fig. 2.4). Also in this experiment, root growth was affected from low Mg supply at higher amount than the shoot growth, especially under high light intensity. Consequently, low Mg supply resulted in higher shoot-to-root ratio when compared to the plants with adequate Mg supply.



Figure 2.4: Root and shoot groth of 29-days-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low and adequate Mg supply and at different light intensities.

As expected, plants with adequate Mg supply had more Mg than the plants with low Mg supply under both light intensities (Table 2.2). The differences in shoot and root Mg concentrations between low and high Mg treatments were more obvious at high light intensity. High light intensity lowered the shoot Mg concentration and thus the shoot Mg content considerably in low Mg, but it did not have a significant effect on the root Mg concentration or content of wheat. In maize, low Mg plants had 3-7 times lower Mg concentrations in their shoot and roots than adequate Mg plants. When the shoot and root Mg contents were considered, these differences were even more dramatic. High light intensity resulted in decrease in Mg concentrations of shoot and root in maize. Despite Mg concentration was reduced by high light in low Mg plants, Mg content was increased again by high light intensity. **Table 2.2:** Effect of low and high light intensity treatments on the shoot and root Mg concentrations and contents of 29-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and (*Zea mays* cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M for wheat; 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply.

			WHEAT			
	_	Mg Con	centrations	Mg C	ontents	
Treatment	Mg Supply	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot+Root
		(m	g kg ⁻¹)	(hð I	plant ⁻¹)	
Low Light	Low	470 ± 26	597 ± 30	93 ± 16	39 ± 4	132
Low Light	Adequate	1594 ± 30	1399 ± 245	353 ± 41	177 ± 106	531
	Low	356 ± 53	565 ± 82	73 ± 16	38 ± 1	111
High Light	Adequate	1428 ± 127	1821 ± 478	508 ± 138	261 ± 147	769

			MAIZE			
	_	Mg Con	centrations	Mg C	ontents	
Treatment	Mg Supply	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot+Root
		(m	g kg ⁻¹)	(µg	plant ⁻¹)	
Low Light	Low	683 ± 62	1149 ± 156	1234 ± 198	266.3 ± 15	1500
Low Light	Adequate	2807 ± 267	8180 ± 790	9068 ± 337	4316 ± 317	13384
Lish Lisht	Low	559 ± 10	1001 ± 48	1330 ± 125	361 ± 28	1691
nign Light	Adequate	1777 ± 252	6856 ± 1292	8007 ± 469	6070 ± 1159	14077

Wheat:

Shoot Mg Conc.: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (95; 95; ,n.s) Root Mg Conc.: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (362; n.s; n.s) Shoot Mg Cont.: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (22; 22; n.s) Root Mg Cont.: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (13; n.s; n.s) **Maize:** Shoot Mg Conc.: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (248; 248; 487) Root Mg Conc.: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (1014; n.s; n.s) Shoot Mg Cont.: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (415; 415; 815) Root Mg Cont.: HSD0.05 (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (800; 800; 1571)

In the leaves of both wheat and maize, where antioxidative enzyme activities were measured, high light intensity reduced the protein concentration by about 30-50% while Mg treatment did not have a significant effect on protein concentration (Table

2.3). Probably, enhancements in dry matter production by high ligh intensity (Table 2.1) contributed to reduction in protein concentration by causing dilution.

Table 2.3: Effect of low and high light treatments on the leaf protein concentrations of 29-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) and (*Zea mays* cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M for wheat, 20 μ M for maize) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply.

		Protein Concentration		
Treatment	Mg Supply	Wheat	Maize	
		(mg g ⁻¹ FW)		
Low Light	Low	26.0 ± 4.9	11.2 ± 3.0	
Low Light	Adequate	20.8 ± 2.5	10.6 ± 1.2	
High Light	Low	14.0 ± 2.3	8.7 ± 1.2	
	Adequate	14.3 ± 0.8	8.3 ± 0.9	

Wheat: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (*n.s*; *n.s*; *n.s*) Maize: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (*n.s*; 4.0; *n.s*)

Table 2.4 shows the effects of Mg and light treatments on the activities of selected antioxidative enzymes of wheat plants on both fresh weight and protein basis. The superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity per g fresh sample was elevated by Mg deficiency in wheat under both light intensities, and the highest activity was measured at high light intensity when Mg is deficient. Much stronger responses to high light intensity were observed in the case of specific SOD activity. High light resulted in increase of about 45% in the specific activity of SOD. Low Mg also enhanced the glutathione reductase (GR) activity under high light intensity there is no remarkable change in the GR activity per g fresh sample whereas the specific activity of GR decreased about 8% by Mg supply. In the case of APX, low Mg supply did not have a remarkable effect on activity both per g fresh sample and specific activities at low light intensity while at high light intensity it increased the activities by 30%.

On the contrary, high light intensity caused very distinct decreases in the catalase (CAT) activity per gr fresh sample of wheat. Similarly, also the protein based activity of CAT was lowered by Mg deficiency under both light intensities in wheat. The lowest CAT activities were observed in the Mg deficient wheat and maize under high light intensity (Table 2.4).

Table 2.4: Total and specific activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione reductase (GR), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), and catalase (CAT) in leaves of 29-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Adana 99) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (15 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different light intensities.

Total Activity							
Treatment	Mg Supply	SOD	GR	APX	CAT		
		(U g ⁻¹ FW)	(µmol [NADPH] g ⁻¹ FW min ⁻¹)	(µmol H ₂ O ₂	g ⁻¹ FW min ⁻¹)		
	Low	134 ± 13	14.8 ± 0.7	38 ± 5	3529 ± 177		
Low Light	Adequate	121 ± 12	13.0 ± 2.0	37 ± 5	3050 ± 64		
Ulah Lisht	Low	151 ± 3	22.2 ± 2.5	86 ± 6	1443 ± 246		
Hign Light	Adequate	148 ± 6	15.5 ± 1.1	62 ± 4	1929 ± 285		
		Sp	ecific Activity				
Treatment	Mg Supply	SOD	GR	ΑΡΧ	CAT		
		(U mg ⁻¹ Prt.)	(µmol [NADPH] mg ⁻¹ prt. min ⁻¹)	(µmol H ₂ O ₂ mg ⁻¹ prt. min ⁻¹)			
Low Light	Low	5.2 ± 0.5	0.58 ± 0.09	0.8 ± 0.2	138 ± 20		
LOW LIGHT	Adequate	5.8 ± 0.2	0.63 ± 0.05	0.9 ± 0.0	148 ± 14		
Link Linkt	Low	11.0 ± 1.8	1.65 ± 0.50	3.1 ± 0.4	104 ± 10		
High Light	Adequate	10.4 ± 0.8	1.09 ± 0.11	2.2 ± 0.1	135 ± 14		

SOD: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (n.s; 13; *n.s*) GR: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (2.9; 2.9; *n.s*) APX: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (7; 7; 13) CAT: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (*n.s*; 280; 550)

SOD_Sp: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (*n.s*; 1.3; *n.s*) GR_Sp: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (*n.s*; 0.35; *n.s*) APX_Sp: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (0.3; 0.3; 0.6) CAT_Sp: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (20; 20; *n.s*) In case of maize, low Mg supply enhanced the SOD activity per g fresh sample by 10-20% (Table 2.5). The specific SOD activity increased about 5% by Mg deficiency under low light intensity whereas under high light intensity, the activity increased by 20%. The GR activity per g fresh sample was enhanced by Mg deficiency in maize under both light intensity, and the largest activities were measured at high light intensity when Mg is applied at low level. The same trend was also observed in the activities of APX. Again, low Mg supply resulted in significant increase in both g fresh sample- and protein-based acitvities of APX at both light intensities, and the greatest activities were measured in Mg deficient plants under high light intensity. As in the case of wheat, the response of catalase to low Mg supply in maize was remarkably different than the responses of other antioxidative enzymes. Although CAT activity per g fresh sample increased about 5% by low Mg supply at low light, this change was not observed in the protein-based activities of CAT. Magnesium deficiency caused both fresh weight- and protein-based activities of CAT to dramatically and reduced activity by about 50% under high light intensity. **Table 2.5:** Total activities and specific activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione reductase (GR), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), and catalase (CAT) in leaves of 29-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Pioneer) plants grown in nutrient solutions with low (20 μ M) or adequate (450 μ M) Mg supply under different light intensities.

Total Activity						
Treatment	Mg Supply	SOD	GR	ΑΡΧ	CAT	
		(U g ⁻¹ FW)	(µmol [NADPH] g ⁻¹ FW min ⁻¹)	(μ mol H ₂ O ₂ g ⁻¹ FW min ⁻¹)		
Law Links	Low	93 ± 18	4.3 ± 1.2	28 ± 4	711 ± 172	
Low Light	Adequate	87 ± 13	3.1 ± 0.5	17 ± 3	686 ± 139	
High Light	Low	127 ± 19	9.7 ± 2.0	32 ± 4	219 ± 44	
	Adequate	99 ± 14	5.2 ± 0.8	13 ± 2	458 ± 106	

Specific Activity						
Treatment	Mg Supply	SOD	GR	APX	CAT	
		(U mg ⁻¹ Prt.)	(µmol [NADPH] mg ⁻¹ prt. min ⁻¹)	(µmol H ₂ O ₂ mg ⁻¹ prt. min ⁻¹)		
Low Light	Low	8.5 ± 0.9	0.39 ± 0.06	1.3 ± 0.2	64 ± 3	
Low Light	Adequate	8.2 ± 0.3	0.29 ± 0.05	0.8 ± 0.2	65 ± 9	
High Light	Low Adequate	14.6 ± 0.3 11.8 ± 0.9	1.10 ± 0.11 0.62 ± 0.04	1.8 ± 0.1 0.8 ± 0.1	25 ± 3 55 ± 9	

SOD: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (n.s; 22; *n.s*) GR: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (1.7; 1.7; n.s) APX: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (5; 5; 9) CAT: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (*n.s*; 166; n.s)

SOD_Sp: HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (0.9; 0.9; 1.8) GR_Sp: HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (0.09; 0.09; 0.19) APX_Sp: HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (0.21; 0.21; 0.42) CAT_Sp: HSD_{0.05} (Mg; Light; MgxLight) = (9; 9; 18)

(D) DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

D.1. Discussion

Interveinal chlorosis is a typical symptom of Mg deficiency in crops (Marschner and Cakmak 1989; Hermans et al. 2005; Tewari et al. 2006). Usually, chlorosis due to Mg deficiency appears first in older source leaves, which is commonly explained by the relatively high mobility of Mg (Bergmann 1992; Marschner 2012). In agreement with the literature, in both experiments, leaves of wheat and maize plants turned chlorotic under Mg-deficient conditions (Figs. 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 2.1 and 2.2). Under Mg deficiency, younger leaves remain green while older leaves show chlorosis, which clearly indicate remobilization of limited Mg resources from source (older leaves) to sink organs (younger leaves).

Numerous reports indicate that nutritional disorders impair the tolerance of plants to environmental stress factors (Cakmak 2005; Marschner 2012; Waraich et al. 2012). High light intensity was shown to enhance chlorosis and necrosis in not only Mg-deficient but also K- or Zn-deficient bean plants by causing increased photooxidative damage (Marschner and Cakmak 1989; Cakmak and Marschner 1992). In the present study, under Mg deficiency, high light intensity also reduced chlorophyll levels of wheat and maize (Figs. 2.1 and 2.2). Plants under low Mg supply became rapidly chlorotic when exposed to high light. Heat treatment also aggravated visual stress symptoms observed in Mg-deficient plants, but it did not result in chlorosis when Mg supply was adequate (Figs. 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3). Plants under low Mg supply were visually more damaged under higher temperature and higher light intensity, while plants with adequate Mg supply were not affected. These observations suggest that Mg deficiency increases sensitivity of both cereal crops to heat and high light stresses.

Generally, growth of plants under low Mg supply remained similar or showed slight increases under high light or heat treatment, while plants under adequate Mg showed very obvious increases in growth, especially maize (Figs. 1.1B, 1.5, 2.1B and 2.4). The particular stimulation of maize growth by higher temperature and higher light intensity under adequate Mg supply can be explained by the fact that maize is a C₄ species while wheat represents a C₃ plant species. It is well-known that C₄ plants respond positively to increases in air temperature and light in terms of plant growth due to their higher optimum growth temperature and light intensity (Berry and Bjorkman 1980; Edwards and Walker 1983). However, as mentioned, Mg-deficient maize plants did not respond positively to temperature increase (Table 1.1) and showed more severe stress symptoms by increasing temperature (Figs. 1.1B and 1.2B). Similarly, positive growth response of maize to high light intensity decreased by 5% when Mg is deficient (Fig. 2.1B and Table 2.1). These observations clearly indicate that the susceptibility of plants to heat and light stress increases under low Mg conditions, and the positive response of C_4 plants to higher temperatures depends very much on the Mg nutritional status of plants. Similarly, Mg deficiency was also found to make the plants highly susceptible to high light intensity (Marschner and Cakmak, 1989; Cakmak and Marschner, 1992; Tang et al. 2012).

As expected, dry matter production of plants, in both heat and light experiments, was affected by Mg deficiency. Root growth was more sensitive to Mg deficiency than shoot growth in wheat, which resulted in significantly higher shoot-to-root ratios under Mg deficiency (Tables 1.1 and 2.1; Figs. 1.4, 1.5, 2.3 and 2.4). Maize plants also exhibited markedly higher shoot-to-root ratios in response to Mg deficiency. Although some contradictory studies in literature showed a stronger impact of Mg deficiency on shoot than root growth in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Hermans and Verbruggen 2005) and sugar beet (Hermans et al. 2005), the majority of reports, in agreement with the results presented here, indicated the opposite: More severe depression of root than shoot growth and increase in shoot-to-root dry weight ratio due to Mg deficiency were documented for various species such as common bean (Cakmak et al. 1994a), birch (Ericsson and Kahr 1995), spinach (Fischer et al. 1998), pepper (Riga and Anza 2003) and citrus (Yang et al. 2012). The relatively higher sensitivity of root growth to Mg deficiency is most probably related to restricted carbohydrate supply from source leaves to sink organs including roots, as discussed by Cakmak and Kirkby (2008). Also,

growing plants under low light reduces photosynthesis and plant growth, particularly root growth (Van den Driessche 1987; Grechi et al. 2007) that was also observed in wheat and maize plants in case of root growth.

Heat or light treatment of low Mg wheat or maize plants did not reduce their shoot biomass at the time of harvest (Tables 1.1 and 2.1), although these plants appeared smaller than non-treated ones (Figs. 1.1 and 2.1). In contrast, the root growth of low Mg plants was clearly reduced by heat treatment (Figs. 1.4 and 1.5). Higher susceptibility of the root growth to heat than the shoot growth has been also shown in creeping bentgrass (Agrostis palustris) (Huang and Gao, 2000), black spruce seedlings (Picea mariana) (Way and Sage 2008) and wheat plants (Tahir et al. 2008). Published data show that carbohydrate translocation from shoots into roots is reduced under high temperature conditions (Timlin et al. 2006; Huang et al. 2012), which could be an explanation for the higher sensitivity of root growth to heat stress. Increased respiratory carbon loss in root tissue is known to be enhanced under high temperature which probably also contributes to higher heat sensitivity of root growth (Wang et al. 2009; Huang et al. 2012). Lower levels of carbohydrates found in roots of the heat-treated plants might be, therefore, associated with both reduced transport of carbohydrates from shoot and increased respiratory losses (Huang et al. 2012). Since Mg deficiency also reduces carbohydrate concentration in roots due to inhibited phloem export of photoassimilates from shoot into roots (Cakmak et al. 1994b), it can be suggested that the adverse impact of heat stress and also high light stress on root growth might be more pronounced when plants are simultaneously exposed to Mg deficiency. The results presented in Table 1.1 are in well agreement with this suggestion, especially in the case of maize plants.

When the light intensity is higher, dry matter production of wheat and maize plants increased regardless of Mg supply, most probably because of the high photosynthesis rate (Table 2.1), which was also previously observed by Marschner and Cakmak (1989). Despite the root dry matter was not affected by different light treatments in wheat under given experimental conditions; maize exhibited elevated root dry weights by high light treatment at both low and adequate Mg supply. These observations can be explained by the fact that maize is a C_4 species in contrast to wheat, which is a C_3 species. The C_4 photosynthetic pathway evolved as an adaptation to high temperature, high light intensity and limited water availability (Edwards et al. 2010). Thus, under high light intensity more amounts of photoassimilates produced in maize could be transported to roots (Table 2.1 and Fig. 2.4). However, Mg-deficient maize did not respond positively to temperature increase (Table 1.1) and showed more severe stress symptoms (Figs. 1.1B, 2.1B and 1.5), again suggesting that Mg deficiency may lower the heat stress threshold of crops.

At early vegetative growth, the critical Mg deficiency concentration in whole shoot was reported as 0.10% for wheat and 0.15% for maize (Jones et al. 1991). According to Tables 1.2 and 2.2, in both heat and high light experiments, the Mg concentrations in the shoots of both wheat and maize plants were sufficiently high when Mg supply was adequate, but below the critical levels when Mg supply was low. It is notable that the shoot Mg concentration of wheat and maize decreased upon heat treatment, especially under adequate Mg conditions (Table 1.2). However, the shoot Mg content (total amount of Mg per shoot) of maize grown with adequate Mg supply was actually elevated by heat treatment, indicating that the observed reduction in shoot Mg concentration is most likely due to dilution. High light lowered the shoot Mg content of wheat increased in adequate Mg conditions by high light intensity while Mg content of maize decreased by high light when Mg is adequate meaning there is a dilution effect.

The well-documented inhibitory role of Mg deficiency in the phloem export of photosynthates has been also found in the present study. Source leaves of maize plants with low Mg supply had higher specific leaf dry weights (e.g., weight per area of leaves) than those of adequate Mg plants, probably due to high accumulation of starch in source leaves (Fig. 1.4). An intensive accumulation of starch in Mg-deficient source leaves is a well-known phenomenon (Cakmak et al. 1994a; Hermans and Verbruggen 2005). On the contrary, young sink leaves had reduced specific dry weights under Mg-deficient conditions, indicating impaired transport of photosynthates to sink organs. In the literature, Mg deficiency in common bean (Cakmak et al. 1994a) and K deficiency in cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.) (Pettigrew 1999) were reported to increase specific leaf dry weight, and these results were discussed in relation to impaired photoassimilate export from source tissues under Mg or K deficiency. Sucrose loading from source tissues into the phloem channel is known to be specifically inhibited in Mg-deficient common bean (Cakmak et al. 1994b), sugar beet (Hermans et al. 2005) and *Arabidopsis*

thaliana (Hermans and Verbruggen 2005), probably due to the impairment of H⁺/ATPase activity in phloem companion cells, which mediates phloem loading of sucrose (Bush 1989; Zhao et al. 2000). In agreement with these findings, the soluble carbohydrate concentration increased in source leaves of low Mg maize plants but decreased in sink leaves (Fig. 1.5). Since Mg is believed to be primarily required by plasma membrane-bound ATPases in form of Mg-ATP (Hanstein et al. 2011; White 2012), a reduced level of Mg-ATP in Mg-deficient leaf tissue might be one plausible reason for the impaired phloem transport of photoassimilates under Mg deficiency. Accordingly, there was a large increase in concentration of soluble carbohydrates in source leaves but a distinct decline in sink leaves of Mg-deficient plants (Fig. 1.5a). When the soluble carbohydrate concentrations are calculated per unit of dry leaf area, the difference in soluble carbohydrates in source and sink leaves mentioned between low and adequate Mg plants becomes more pronounced (Fig. 1.5b). It is obvious that there is a strong inhibition in translocation of photosynthates from source into young leaf tissue. When low Mg plants were heat-treated, the concentration of soluble carbohydrates reached an even higher level in middle leaves and decreased to an even lower level in youngest leaves. Higher soluble carbohydrate concentrations measured in the source leaves of adequate Mg plants at high temperature may be related to increased photosynthetic activity of Mg-sufficient maize at high temperature (Crafts-Brandner and Salvucci 2002).

Reduction in soluble carbohydrate concentrations in young sink tissue might be also a consequence of the lower sink activity in Mg-deficient shoot tips. Since plasma membrane-bound ATPases are also involved in cell elongation and expansion in meristem tissues (Hager 2003; Pitann et al. 2009), a reduced ATPase activity might be expected in Mg-deficiency sink tissues due to lack of Mg-ATP, which may result in lower sink demand for carbohydrates (Schubert et al. 2012). This is an interesting topic, which needs to be studied in future in detail. However, rapid restoration of phloem export of sucrose in Mg-deficient leaves after 12-h Mg resupply to Mg deficient plants (Cakmak et al. 1994b) and substantial accumulation of carbohydrates in Mg-deficient source leaves before any change in shoot growth and chlorophyll concentration (Cakmak et al. 1994a; Hermans and Verbruggen 2005) indicate a primary role of Mg nutrition in phloem export of photoassimilates into the sink organs.

Magnesium is required to stabilize polyphosphate compounds including ATP, pyrophosphate (PP_i) and RNA by neutralizing the negative charges (Cole and Schimmel 1970). The involvement of Mg in structural stability and proper functioning of ribosome (Shenvi et al. 2005), transcription by DNA-dependent RNA polymerase (Sosunov et al. 2003) and amino acid activation by aminoacyl tRNA synthetase (Cole and Schimmel 1970) renders it essential for protein synthesis. Deficiency of Mg is known to impair protein synthesis (Marschner 2012). In agreement with the literature, both wheat and maize leaves had significantly lower levels of protein under Mg-deficient conditions in heat experiment (Table 1.3). Heat stress caused further reductions in protein concentrations of maize leaves. Negative effects of heat stress on total protein concentration were also demonstrated in other cultivated species including strawberry (Gulen and Eris 2004) and bentgrass (He et al. 2005). Although in light experiment the concentrations of protein were not much affected by Mg deficiency (probably due to less severity of Mg deficiency stress in this experiment), high light treatment, however, leads protein concentrations to decrease in both low and adequate Mg supply in maize and wheat which is probably due to higher production of ROS under high light intensity which is known with its oxidizing effect on the proteins in the cell (Cabiscol et al. 2000; Mittler 2002). High light stress inducing photoinhibition and protein degradation of photosystem I in Brassica rapa was also found in the study with rapeseed plants by Jiao (2004).

Magnesium deficiency, heat stress and high light intensity are known to induce the production of ROS (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Suzuki and Mittler 2006; Cakmak and Kirkby 2008). Under these stresses, the level of oxidative damage maintained by ROS depends on light intensity and pronounced in chloroplasts (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Larkindale and Knight 2002; Yamamoto et al. 2008). Lightdependent cell damage in chloroplasts is called "photooxidative damage". Heat-induced oxidative stress also targets the mitochondria where the respiration is enhanced and the electron transport chain is disrupted leading generation of more ROS in mitochondria (Suzuki and Mittler 2006; Wahid et al. 2007). Similarly also in peroxisomes, heat stress elevated levels of H_2O_2 as a consequence of heat-induced photorespiration (Suzuki and Mittler 2006; Wahid et al. 2007; Farooq et al. 2011).

In both heat and light experiments, Mg deficiency enhanced the specific SOD, APX and GR activities in wheat and maize except for the low light condition in wheat (Tables 1.4, 1.5, 2.4 and 2.5). Increases of the activities of antioxidative enzymes are in agreement with previous reports on common bean (Cakmak and Marschner 1992), maize (Tewari et al. 2004), pepper (Riga et al. 2005) and citrus (Tang et al. 2012). Enhancement in specific SOD activities were pronounced under heat-stress and high light treatment, suggesting an increased requirement for superoxide scavenging in chloroplasts and possibly also other compartments where SOD isozymes are found such as mitochondria and the cytosol (Scandalios 1993). SOD activity has been also reported to be enhanced in plants subjected to different abiotic stress conditions such as high light, drought and metal toxicity (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Sharma and Dubey 2005; Mishra et al. 2011). This high activity of SOD is an indicator of enhanced oxidative stress tolerance in plants (Gupta et al. 1993). Similarly, the specific activities of APX and GR, two critical enzymes of the Halliwell-Asada pathway in chloroplasts, also reached the highest levels when Mg-deficient plants were under heat or high light stress (Tables 1.4, 1.5, 2.4 and 2.5). Increased activities of APX and GR were also reported as a response to environmental stresses such as high light, drought, salinity, chilling and UV irradiation (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Boo and Jung 1999; Sharma and Dubey 2005; Han et al. 2009; Hefny and Abdel-Kader 2009). These results indicate that generation of ROS in Mg-deficient leaf tissue is probably promoted under heat and high light treatment, which might be the reason why plants with low Mg supply appeared more damaged with heat and high light treatment (Figs. 1.1, 1.2 and 2.1).

The protective role of CAT in peroxisomes against free radicals is limited due to its low affinity to H_2O_2 and high sensitivity to light induced inactivation (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Foyer et al. 1994). It can be the reason that high light intensity significantly reduced CAT activity in wheat and maize, and the lowest CAT activities were observed under Mg deficiency (Tables 2.4 and 2.5). The higher CAT activities measured in heat-stressed wheat plants can be explained by increased rates of photorespiration as photorespiratory H_2O_2 production accounts for most of the total H_2O_2 formation in C₃ species (Noctor et al. 2002). Enhanced UV-B (30%) was also found to be the triggering reason of high activities of SOD, APX and CAT (Han et al. 2009). Interestingly, several studies documented that the peroxisome enzyme CAT, in contrast to SOD, APX and GR, had lower activities in Mg-deficient plants (Tewari et al. 2006; Esfandiari et al. 2010; Tang et al. 2012). The reason behind may be the similarity of CAT to the D1 protein of photosystem II with respect to its sensitivity to photooxidative damage: CAT can be easily photo-inactivated by conditions, which do not affect the activities of other antioxidative enzymes (Feierabend et al. 1992). Reduced CAT activity under Mg deficiency was also observed in the present study (Tables 1.4, 1.5, 2.4 and 2.5), especially in heat and high light treated maize plants. This may be an indicator of aggravated photooxidative damage in Mg-deficient and heat or high light treated maize.

D.2. Conclusions

Heat stress and high light intensity are growing concern in crop production because of global warming (Asseng et al. 2011; Gourdji et al. 2013). Currently, several agronomic and genetic strategies are being discussed to mitigate heat and light-related impairments in plant growth and developments (Asseng et al. 2011; Zheng et al. 2012; Chapman et al. 2012). This study showed that adequate Mg supply is needed to minimize leaf damage and growth loss associated with heat stress and high light intensity. It is known that Mg deficiency is becoming an important mineral nutrient deficiency in agricultural soils globally, particularly in acidic sandy soils and under intensive crop production systems leading to Mg depletion in the soil profile. Detrimental effects of heat and high light stress on wheat and maize plants, particularly decreases in root growth are pronounced when plants are simultaneously exposed to low Mg supply. Very early impairments in root growth and related decline in root surface by Mg deficiency under stress conditions may have serious impacts on the acquisition of mineral nutrients and uptake of water by roots, especially under water-limited and nutrient-deficient soil conditions. Decreases in root growth may also impair root adaptation to problem soils such as Al-toxic soils. Therefore, ensuring better Mg nutrition of plants under stress conditions is an important agronomic practice. Late foliar application of Mg (just before or after flowering) might be also very important to guarantee efficient retranslocation of carbohydrates into harvest products (e.g. grains, fruits, tubers) and thus for maintenance of high yield. The maintenance of a sufficient Mg supply represents an effective nutritional strategy to minimize heat and high light stress-related losses in crop production.

(E) REFERENCES

- Allakhverdiev SI, Kreslavski VD, Klimov VV, Los DA, Carpentier R, Mohanty P (2008) Heat stress: an overview of molecular responses in photosynthesis. Photosynth Res 98:541-550. doi: 10.1007/s11120-008-9331-0
- Asada K (1994) Production and action of active oxygen in photosynthetic tissue. In: Foyer CH and Mullineaux PM Causes of Photooxidative Stress and Amelioration of Defense Systems in Plants. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. pp. 77-104. ISBN 0-8493-5443-9
- Asada K (1999) The water cycle in chloroplast: Scavenging of active oxygen and dissipation of excess photons. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 50:601-639. doi: 10.1146/annurev.arplant.50.1.601
- Asada K (2006) Production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts and their functions. Plant Physiol 141:391–396. doi: 10.1104/pp.106.082040
- Asseng S, Foster I, Turner NC (2011) The impact of temperature variability on wheat yields. Global Change Biol 17:997-1012. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02262.x
- Barber J, Andersson B 1992. Too much of a good thing: light can be bad for photosynthesis. TIBS 17: 61–66. doi:10.1016/0968-0004(92)90503-2
- Bergmann W (1992) Nutritional disorders of plants: development, visual and analytical diagnosis. 741. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Stuttgart
- Berry J, Björkman O (1980) Photosynthetic response and adaptation to temperature in higher plants. Annu Rev Plant Physio 31: 491-543. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pp.31.060180.002423
- Blum A (1998) Improving wheat grain filling under stress by stem reserve mobilization. Euphytica 100:77–83. doi: 10.1023/A:1018303922482

- Boko M, Niang I, Nyong A, Vogel C, Githeko A, Medany M, Osman-Elasha B, Tabo R, Yanda P (2007) Africa. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE Eds. Cambridge University Press Cambridge UK 433-467
- Boo YC, Jung J (1999) Water deficit Induced oxidative stress and antioxidative defenses in rice plants *J Plant Physiol* 155(2):255–261. doi: 10.1016/S0176-1617(99)80016-9
- Bradford MM (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the protein-dye binding. Anal Biochem 72:248-254. doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3
- Bray EA, Bailey-Serres J, Weretilnyk E. (2000). Responses to abiotic stresses, in Buchanan B, Gruissem W, Jones R: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Plants. American Society of Plant Physiologists, 1158–1203
- Bruinsma J (2009) The resource outlook to 2050. By how much do land, water use and crop yields need to increase by 2050? FAO Expert Meeting on How to Feed the World in 2050. 24-26
- Bush DR (1989) Proton-coupled sucrose transport in plasmalemma vesicles isolated from sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L. cv. Great Western) leaves. Plant Physiol 89:1318-1323. doi: 10.1104/pp.89.4.1318
- Cabiscol E, Piulats E, Echave P, Herrero E, Ros J (2000) Oxidative stress promotes specific protein damage in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Biol Chem 275(35): 27393–27398
- Cakmak I (1994) Activity of ascorbate-dependent H₂O₂-scavenging enzymes and leaf chlorosis are enhanced in magnesium and potassium-deficient leaves, but not in phosphorus-deficient leaves. J Exp Bot 45: 1259-1266. doi: 10.1093/jxb/45.9.1259
- Cakmak I. (2002). Plant nutrition research: Priorities to meet human needs for food in sustainable ways. Plant Soil, 247: 3–24. doi:10.1007/0-306-47624-X_2
- Cakmak I (2005) The role of potassium in alleviating detrimental effects of abiotic stresses in plants. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 168:521-530. doi: 10.1002/jpln.200420485

- Cakmak I, Hengeler C, Marschner H (1994a) Partitioning of shoot and root dry matter and carbohydrates in bean plants suffering from phosphorus, potassium and magnesium deficiency. J Exp Bot 45:1245-1250. doi: 10.1093/jxb/45.9.1245
- Cakmak I, Hengeler C, Marschner H (1994b) Changes in phloem export of sucrose in leaves in response to phosphorus, potassium and magnesium deficiency in bean plants. J Exp Bot 45:1251-1257. doi: 10.1093/jxb/45.9.1251
- Cakmak I, Kirkby EA (2008) Role of magnesium in carbon partitioning and alleviating photooxidative damage. Physiol Plantarum 133:692-704. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3054.2007.01042.x
- Cakmak I, Marschner H (1992) Magnesium deficiency and high light intensity enhance activities of superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, and glutathione reductase in bean leaves. Plant Physiol 98:1222-1227. doi: 10.1104/pp.98.4.1222
- Cakmak I, Yazici A (2010) Magnesium: A forgotten element in crop production. Better Crops 94:23-25
- Carmo-Silva AE, Gore MA, Andrade-Sanchez P, French AN, Hunsaker DJ, Salvucci ME (2012) Decreased CO₂ availability and inactivation of Rubisco limit photosynthesis in cotton plants under heat and drought stress in the field. Environ Exp Bot 83:1-11. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2012.04.001
- Chapman SC, Chakraborty S, Dreccer MF, Howden SC (2012) Plant adaptation to climate change-opportunities and priorities in breeding. Crop Pasture Sci 63:251-268. doi: 10.1071/CP11303
- Cole FX, Schimmel PR (1970) Isoleucyl transfer ribonucleic acid synthetase. Role of magnesium in amino acid activation. Biochemistry-US 9:3143-3148. doi: 10.1021/bi00818a005
- Crafts-Brandner S J and Salvucci M E (2002) Sensitivity of photosynthesis in a C4 plant, maize, to heat stress. Plant Physiol. 129:1773–1780
- Demmig-Adams B and Adams WW III (1996) The role of the xanthophyll cycle carotenoids in protection of photosynthesis. Trends. Plant Sci. 1:21–26
- Desikan R, Mackerness S, Hancock JT, Neill SJ (2001) Regulation of the Arabidopsis transcriptome by oxidative stress. Plant Physiol 127(1): 159–172
- Easterling WE, Aggarwal PK, Batima P, Brander KM, Erda L, Howden SM, Kirilenko A, Morton J, Soussana JF, Schmidhuber J, Tubiello FN (2007) Food, fibre and forest products. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability.

Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE Eds. Cambridge University Press Cambridge UK 273-313

- Edwards G, Walker DA (1983) C3, C4: mechanisms, and cellular and environmental regulation, of photosynthesis, 395. University of California Press, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Berkeley, CA, USA
- Edwards EJ, Osborne CP, Strömberg CA, Smith SA, Bond WJ, Christin PA, Cousins AB, Duvall MR, Fox DL, Freckleton RP et al (2010) The origins of C4 grasslands: Integrating evolutionary and ecosystem science. Science 328:587-591. doi: 10.1126/science.1177216
- Epstein E, Bloom AJ (2004) Mineral nutrition of plants: principles and perspectives. 2nd edn. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA
- Ericsson T, Kähr M (1995) Growth and nutrition of birch seedlings at varied relative addition rates of magnesium. Tree Physiol 15:85-93. doi: 10.1093/treephys/15.2.85
- Esfandiari E, Shokrpour M, Alavi-Kia S (2010) Effect of Mg deficiency on antioxidant enzymes activities and lipid peroxidation. J Agr Sci 2:131-136
- Farooq M, Bramley H, Palta JA, Siddique KHM (2011) Heat stress in wheat during reproductive and grain-filling phases. Crit Rev Plant Sci 30:491-507. doi: 10.1080/07352689.2011.615687
- Feierabend J, Schaan C, Hertwig B (1992) Photoinactivation of catalase occurs under both high- and low-temperature stress conditions and accompanies photoinhibition of photosystem II. Plant Physiol 100:1554–1561. doi:10.1104/ pp.100.3.1554
- Fischer ES, Bremer E (1993) Influence of magnesium deficiency on rates of leaf expansion, starch and sucrose accumulation, and net assimilation in *Phaseolus vulgaris*. Physiol Plantarum 89:271-276. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.1993.tb00153.x
- Fischer ES, Lohaus G, Heineke D, Heldt HW (1998) Magnesium deficiency results in accumulation of carbohydrates and amino acids in source and sink leaves of spinach. Physiol Plantarum 102:16-20. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-3054.1998.1020103.x

- Fokar M, Blum A, Nguyen HT (1998) Heat tolerance in spring wheat. II. Grain filling. Euphytica 104:9–15. doi: 10.1023/A:1018322502271
- Foyer CH, Halliwell B (1976) The presence of glutathione and glutathione reductase in chloroplasts: A proposed role in ascorbic acid metabolism. Planta 133:21-25. doi: 10.1007/BF00386001
- Foyer CH, Lopez-Delgado H, Dat JF, Scott IM (1997) Hydrogen peroxide and glutathione associated mechanisms of acclimatory stress tolerance and signalling. *Plant Physiology* 100:241-254. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3054.1997.tb04780.x
- Foyer C H and Noctor G 2005 Redox homeostasis and antioxidant signaling: a metabolic interface between stress perception and physiological responses. Plant Cell 17, 1866-1875
- Giannopolitis N, RiesSK (1977) Superoxide dismutase. I. Occurrence in higher plants. Plant Physiol 59:309-314. doi: 10.1104/pp.59.2.309
- Gill SS, Tuteja N (2010) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stresstolerance in crop plants. Plant Physiol Bioch 48:909-930. doi: 10.1016/j.plaphy.2010.08.016
- Gong M, Chen SN, Song YQ, Li ZG (1997) Effect of calcium and calmodulin on intrinsic heat tolerance in relation to antioxidant systems in maize seedlings. Aust J Plant Physiol 24:371-379. doi: 10.1071/PP96118
- Gourdji S, Mathews KyL, Reynolds M, Crossa J, Lobell DB (2013) An assessment of wheat yield sensitivity and breeding gains in hot environments. P Roy Soc B-Biol Sci. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2012.2190
- Gransee A, Führs H (2012) Magnesium mobility in soils as a challenge for soil and plant analysis, magnesium fertilization and root uptake under adverse growth conditions. Plant Soil. doi: 10.1007/s11104-012-1567-y
- Grechi I, Vivin P, Hilbert G, Milin S, Robert T, Gaudillere JP (2007) Effect of light and nitrogen supply on internal C : N balance and control of root-to-shoot biomass allocation in grapevine. Environ Exp Bot. 59:139-149. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2005.11.002
- Gulen H, Eris A (2004) Effect of heat stress on peroxidase activity and total protein content in strawberry plants. Plant Sci 166:739-744. doi: 10.1016/j.plantsci.2003.11.014

- Gupta AS, Heinen JL, Holaday AS, Burke JJ, Allen RD (1993) Increased resistance to oxidative stress in transgenic plants that overexpress chloroplastic Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90(4): 1629–1633
- Hager A (2003) Role of the plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase in auxin-induced elongation growth: historical and new aspects. J Plant Res 116:483-505. doi: 10.1007/s10265-003-0110-x
- Han C, Liu Q, Yang Y (2009) Short-term effects of experimental warming and enhanced ultraviolet-B radiation on photosynthesis and antioxidant defense of *Picea asperata* seedlings Plant Growth Regul 58(2):153–162
- Hanstein S, Wang XZ, Qian XQ, Friedhoff P, Fatima A, Shan YH, Feng K, Schubert S (2011) Changes in cytosolic Mg²⁺ levels can regulate the activity of the plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase in maize. Biochem J 435:93-101. doi: 10.1042/BJ20101414
- He Y, Liu X, Huang B (2005) Protein changes in response to heat stress in acclimated and nonacclimated creeping bentgrass. J Amer Soc Hort Sci 130:521-526
- Hefny M, Abdel-Kader DZ Antioxidant-enzyme system as selection criteria for salt tolerance in forage sorghum genotypes (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) in Salinity and Water Stress Ashraf M, Ozturk M, Athar HR, (2009) 25–36, Springer, The Netherlands
- Hermans C, Johnson GN, Strasser RJ, Verbruggen N (2004) Physiological characterization of magnesium deficiency in sugar beet: acclimation to low magnesium differentially affects photosystems I and II. Planta 220:344-355. doi: 10.1007/s00425-004-1340-4
- Hermans C, Bourgis F, Faucher M, Strasser RJ, Delrot S, Verbruggen N (2005) Magnesium deficiency in sugar beets alters sugar partitioning and phloem loading in young mature leaves. Planta 220:541-549. doi: 10.1007/s00425-004-1376-5
- Hermans C, Verbruggen N (2005) Physiological characterization of Mg deficiency in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J Exp Bot 56:2153-2161. doi: 10.1093/jxb/eri215
- Hermans C, Vuylsteke M, Coppens F, Cristescu SM, Harren FJM, Inzé D, Verbruggen N (2010) Systems analysis of the responses to long-term magnesium deficiency

and restoration in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. New Phytol 187:132-144. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03257.x

- Huang B, Gao H (2000) Growth and carbohydrate metabolism of creeping bentgrass cultivars in response to increasing temperatures. Crop Sci 40:1115-1120. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2000.4041115x
- Huang B, Rachmilevitch S, Xu J (2012) Root carbon and protein metabolism associated with heat tolerance. J Exp Bot 63:3455-3465. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ers003
- Igamberdiev AU, Kleczkowski LA (2001) Implications of adenylate kinase-governed equilibrium of adenylates on contents of free magnesium in plant cells and compartments. Biochem J 360:225-231. doi: 10.1042/0264-6021:3600225
- Jiang Y, Huang B (2001) Drought and heat stress injury to two cool-season turfgrasses in relation to antioxidant metabolism and lipid peroxidation. Crop Sci 41: 436-442. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2001.412436x
- Jiao S, Emmanuel H, Guikema J (2004) High light stress inducing photoinhibition and protein degradation of photosystem I in *Brassica rapa*. Plant Sci 167:733-741. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2004.05.002
- Jones JB, Wolf JrB, Mills H (1991) Plant analysis handbook. Micro-Macro publishing, Inc, Athens, GA
- Kiyoshi T, Shon YG, Lee SH, Kim HY, Moon MS, Lee JJ (1999) The response to oxidative stress induced by magnesium deficiency in kidney bean plants. J Plant Biol 42:294-298. doi: 10.1007/BF03030343
- Ko YH, Hong S, Pedersen PL (1999) Chemical mechanism of ATP synthase. J Biol Chem 274:28853–28856. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.41.28853
- Laing W, Greer D, Sun O, Beets P, Lowe A, Payn T (2000) Physiological impacts of Mg deficiency in *Pinus radiata*: growth and photosynthesis. New Phytol 146:47-57. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-8137.2000.00616.x
- Lara MV, Andreo CS (2011) C₄ Plants Adaptation to High Levels of CO₂ and to Drought Environments, Abiotic Stress in Plants - Mechanisms and Adaptations, Prof. Arun Shanker (Ed.) ISBN: 978-953-307-394-1, InTech, doi: 10.5772/24936
- Larkindale J, Knight MR (2002) Protection against heat stress-induced oxidative damage in arabidopsis involves calcium, abscisic acid, ethylene, and salicylic acid. Plant Physiol 128:682-695. doi: 10.1104/pp.010320

- Marschner P (2012) Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants (Third Edition). Elsevier Ltd.
- Marschner H, Cakmak I (1989) High light intensity enhances chlorosis and necrosis in leaves of zinc, potassium, and magnesium deficient bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) plants. J Plant Physiol 134:308-315. doi: 10.1016/S0176-1617(89)80248-2
- Marutani Y, YamauchiY, Kimura Y, Mizutani M, Sugimoto Y (2012) Damage to photosystem II due to heat stress without light-driven electron flow: involvement of enhanced introduction of reducing power into thylakoid membranes. Planta 236:753-761. doi: 10.1007/s00425-012-1647-5
- Mishra S, Jha AB, Dubey RS (2011) Arsenite treatment induces oxidative stress, upregulates antioxidant system, and causes phytochelatin synthesis in rice seedlings. Proto- plasma 248(3):565–577
- Mittler R (2002) Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends Plant Sci 7(9):405-410. doi: 10.1016/S1360-1385(02)02312-9
- Nakano Y, Asada K (1981) Hydrogen peroxide is scavenged by ascorbate specific peroxidase in spinach chloroplasts. Plant Cell Physiol 22:867-880
- Neuhaus C, Geilfus CM, Zörb C, Mühling KH (2013) Transcript expression of Mgchelatase and H⁺-ATPase isogenes in *Vicia faba* leaves as influenced by root and foliar magnesium supply. Plant Soil 368:41-50. doi:10.1007/s11104-013-1711-3
- Noctor G, Veljovic-Jovanovic S, Driscoll S, Novitskaya L, Foyer CH (2002) Drought and oxidative load in the leaves of C3 plants: a predominant role for photorespiration? Ann Bot-London 89:841–850. doi:10.1093/aob/mcf096
- Owens TG (1996) Processing of excitation energy by antenna pigments. In: Baker N (ed.) Photosynthesis and the Environment. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht. 1-23. doi: 10.1007/0-306-48135-9_1
- Pettigrew WT (1999) Potassium deficiency increases specific leaf weights and leaf glucose levels in field-grown cotton. Agron J 91:962-968. doi: 10.2134/agronj1999.916962x
- Pitann B, Schubert S, Mühling KH (2009) Decline in leaf growth under salt stress is due to an inhibition of H⁺-pumping activity and increase in apoplastic pH of maize leaves. J Plant Nutr Soil Sc 172:535-543. doi: 10.1002/jpln.200800349
- Plaut Z, Butow BJ, Blumenthal CS, Wrigley CW (2004) Transport of dry matter into developing wheat kernels and its contribution to grain yield under post-anthesis

water deficit and elevated temperature. Field Crop Res 86:185–198. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2003.08.005

- Population Division of the Department of Economic and Social Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat (2013). World Population Prospects: The 2012 Revision. New York: United Nations
- Portis ARJr (1992) Regulation of ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activity. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 43:415-437. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pp.43.060192.002215
- Powles SB (1984) Photoinhibition of photosynthesis induced by visible light. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 35:15-44. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pp.35.060184.000311
- Prasad PVV, Staggenborg SA, Ristic Z (2008) Impacts of drought 1100 and/or heat s tress on physiological, developmental, growth, and yield processes of crop plants. Chapter 11
- Richter M, Rühle W, Wild A (1990a) Studies on the mechanism of photosystem II photoinhibition. I. A two-step degradation of D1-protein. Photos Res 24: 229– 235. doi: 10.1007/BF00032310
- Richter M, Rühle W, Wild A (1990b) Studies on the mechanism of photosystem II photoinhibition. II. The involvement of toxic oxygen species. Photos Res 24: 237–243. doi: 10.1007/BF00032311
- Riga P, Anza M (2003) Effect of magnesium deficiency on pepper growth parameters: Implications for the determination of magnesium-critical value. J Plant Nutr 26:1581-1593. doi: 10.1081/PLN-120022367.
- Riga P, Anza M, Garbisu C (2005) Suitability of the antioxidative system as marker of magnesium deficiency in *Capsicum annuum* L. plants under controlled conditions. Plant Growth Regul 46:51-59. doi: 10.1007/s10725-005-5466-6
- Römheld V, Kirkby EA (2010) Research on potassium in agriculture: needs and prospects. Plant Soil 335:155–180. doi:10.1007/s11104-010-0520-1
- Ryan PR, Kinraide TB, Kochian LV (1994) Al3+-Ca2+ interactions in aluminum rhizotoxicity. Planta 192:98–102. doi: 10.1007/BF00198698
- Scandalios JG (1993) Oxygen stress and superoxide dismutase. Plant Physiology 101:7-12
- Schubert S, Jung S, Hanstein S (2012) Magnesium nutrition of crop plants with special regard to drought stress. In: Abstracts of the First International Symposium on

Magnesium in Crop Production, Food Quality and Human Nutrition, 8-9 May, 2012, Gottingen University, Germany.

- Sharkey TD (2005) Effects of moderate heat stress on photosynthesis: importance of thylakoid reactions, rubisco deactivation, reactive oxygen species, and thermotolerance provided by isoprene. Plant Cell Environ 28:269-277. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2005.01324.x
- Sharma P, Dubey RS (2005) Drought induces oxidative stress and enhances the activities of antioxidant enzymes in growing rice seedlings. Plant Growth Regul 46(3):209–221
- Sharma P, Jha AB, Dubey RS, Pessararkli M (2012) Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage and antioxidative defense mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. J Bot. doi: 10.1155/2012/217037
- Shaul O (2002) Magnesium transport and function in plants: the tip of the iceberg. Biometals 15:307–321. doi: 10.1023/A:1016091118585
- Shenvi CL, Dong KC, Friedman EM, Hanson JA, Cate JHD (2005) Accessibility of 18S rRNA in human 40S subunits and 80S ribosomes at physiological magnesium ion concentrations-implications for the study of ribosome dynamics. RNA 11:1898-1908. doi: 10.1261/rna.2192805
- Silva IR, Smyth TJ, Carter TE, Rufty TW (2001) Altered aluminum root elongation inhibition in soybean genotypes in the presence of magnesium. Plant Soil 230:223–230 doi: 10.1023/A:1010384516517
- Sreedhara A, Cowan JA (2002) Structural and catalytic roles for divalent magnesium in nucleic acid biochemistry. BioMetals 15:211–223 doi: 10.1023/A:1016070614042
- Sosunov V, Sosunova E, Mustaev A, Bass I, Nikiforov V, Goldfarb A (2003) Unified two-metal mechanism of RNA synthesis and degradation by RNA polymerase. Embo J 22:2234-2244. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg193
- Suzuki N, Koussevitzky S, Mittler R, Miller G (2012) ROS and redox signalling in the response of plants to abiotic stress. Plant Cell Environ 35:259–270. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2011.02336.x
- Suzuki N, Mittler R (2006) Reactive oxygen species and temperature stresses: A delicate balance between signaling and destruction. Physiol Plantarum 126:45–51. doi: 10.1111/j.0031-9317.2005.00582.x

- Tahir ISA, Nakata N (2005) Remobilization of nitrogen and carbohydrate from stems of bread wheat in response to heat stress during grain filling. J Agron Crop Sci 191:106-115. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-037X.2004.00127.x
- Tahir ISA, Nakata N, Yamaguchi T, Nakano J, Ali AM (2008) Influence of high shoot and root-zone temperatures on growth of three wheat genotypes during early vegetative stages. J Agron Crop Sci 194:141-151. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-037X.2008.00298.x
- Takahashi S and Murata N (2008) How do environmental stresses accelerate photoinhibition? Trends Plant Sci 13:178-182 doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2008.01.005
- Tan K, Keltjens WG, Findenegg GR (1992) Aluminium toxicity with sorghum genotypes in nutrient solutions and its amelioration by magnesium. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 155:81–86. doi : 10.1002/jpln.19921550203
- Tan W, Meng QW, Brestic M, Olsovska K, Yang XH (2011) Photosynthesis is improved by exogenous calcium in heat-stressed tobacco plants. J Plant Physiol 168:2063-2071. doi: 10.1016/j.jplph.2011.06.009
- Tang N, Li Y, Chen LS (2012) Magnesium deficiency-induced impairment of photosynthesis in leaves of fruiting *Citrus reticulata* trees accompanied by upregulation of antioxidant metabolism to avoid photo-oxidative damage. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 175:784-793. doi: 10.1002/jpln.201100329
- Teixeira EI, Fischer G, van Velthuizen H, Walter C, Ewert F (2013) Global hot- spots of heat stress on agricultural crops due to climate change. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 170:206-215. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2011.09.002
- Tewari RK, Kumar P, Sharma PN (2006) Magnesium deficiency induced oxidative stress and antioxidant responses in mulberry plants. Sci Hortic-Amsterdam 108:7-14. doi: 10.1016/j.scienta.2005.12.006
- Tewari RK, Kumar P, Tewari N, Srivastava S, Sharma PN (2004) Macronutrient deficiencies and differential antioxidant responses-influence on the activity and expression of superoxide dismutase in maize. Plant Sci 166:687-694. doi: 10.1016/j.plantsci.2003.11.004
- Timlin D, Lutfor Rahman SM, Baker J, Reddy VR, Fleisher D, Quebedeaux B (2006)Whole plant photosynthesis, development, and carbon partitioning in potato as a function of temperature. Agron J 98:1195-1203. doi: 10.2134/agronj2005.0260
- Van den Driessche R (1987). Importance of current photosynthate to new growth in planted conifer seedlings. Can J For Res 17:776–782.
- Wahid A, Gelani S, Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Heat tolerance in plants: An overview. Environ Exp Bot 61:199-223. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2007.05.011
- Wang K, Bian S, Jiang Y (2009) Anaerobic metabolism in roots of Kentucky bluegrass in response to short-term waterlogging alone and in combination with high temperatures. Plant Soil 314:221-229. doi: 10.1007/s11104-008-9721-2
- Waraich EA, Ahmad R, Halim A, Aziz T (2012) Alleviation of temperature stress by nutrient management in crop plants: a review. J Soil Sci Plant Nut 12:221-244. doi: 10.4067/S0718-95162012000200003
- Way DA, Sage RF (2008) Elevated growth temperatures reduce the carbon gain of black spruce [*Picea mariana* (Mill.) B.S.P.]. Global Change Biol 14:624-636. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01513.x
- Wedding RT, Black MK (1998) Role of magnesium in the binding of substrate and effectors to phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase from a CAM plant. Plant Physiol 87:443-446
- White PJ (2012) Ion uptake mechanisms of individual cells and roots: short-distance transport. In: Marschner P (ed) Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants, 3rd edn. Academic, London, pp 7–47
- Yamamoto Y, Aminaka R, Yoshioka M, Khatoon M, Komayama K, Takenaka D, Yamashita A, Nijo N, Inagawa K, Morita N, Sasaki T, Yamamoto Y (2008) Quality control of photosystem II: impact of light and heat stresses. Photosynth Res 98:589–608. doi: 10.1007/s11120-008-9372-4
- Yamashita A, Nijo N, Pospisil P, Morita N, Takenaka D, Aminaka R,Yamamoto Y, Yamamoto Y (2008) Quality control of photosystem II:reactive oxygen species are responsible for the damage to photosystemII under moderate heat stress. J Biol Chem 283: 28380–28391. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M710465200
- Yemm EW, Wills AJ (1954) The estimation of carbohydrate in plant extract by anthrone. Biochem J 57:508-514
- Yan J, Tsuichihara N, Etoh T, Iwai S (2007) Reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide are involved in ABA inhibition of stomatal opening. Plant, Cell and Environ 30(10):1320–1325

- Yang GH, LT, Jiang HX, Li Y, Wang P, Chen LS (2012) Physiological impacts of magnesium-deficiency in *Citrus* seedlings: photosynthesis, antioxidant system and carbohydrates. Trees 26:1237-1250. doi: 10.1007/s00468-012-0699-2
- Yang JL, You JF, Li YY, Wu P, Zheng SJ (2007) Magnesium enhances aluminuminduced citrate secretion in rice bean roots (Vigna umbellata) by restoring plasma membrane H+-ATPase activity. Plant Cell Physiol 48:66–73. doi: 10.1093/pcp/pcl038
- Zhao R, Dielen V, Kinet JM, Boutry M (2000) Cosuppression of aplasma membrane H⁺-ATPase isoform impairs sucrose translocation, stomatal opening, plant growth, and male fertility. Plant Cell 12:535-546. doi: 10.1105/tpc.12.4.535
- Zheng B, Chenu K, Dreccer MF, Chapman SC (2012) Breeding for the future: what are the potential impacts of future frost and heat events on sowing and flowering time requirements for Australian bread wheat (*Triticum aestivium*) varieties? Global Change Biol 18:2899-2914. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02724.x